

LUND UNIVERSITY

From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

Bankell, Elisabeth

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Bankell, E. (2024). *From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 MRTFs

man

000

From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

MRTFs

RelA

NA

C

MN

TBK1

Inflammation

TBK1

SIG

ELISABETH BANKELL EXPERIMENTAL MEDICAL SCIENCE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY **ELISABETH BANKELL** studied Molecular Biology at Lund University, where she also earned her master's degree in Molecular Genetics and Biotechnology. As part of her bachelor's studies, she spent a year on exchange at Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, where she studied Molecular Biology and Life Science. In 2021, she began her PhD at Lund University under the supervision of Prof. Bengt-Olof Nilsson, working within the Vascular Physiology group.



Her research focuses on innate immunity and the signaling pathways involved in inflammation. Her thesis provides new insights into the regulation



of inflammatory responses, particularly how non-immune cells, such as vascular smooth muscle cells, contribute to immune regulation. These findings could contribute to the development of novel therapies for inflammatory diseases by targeting dysregulated immune responses.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Experimental Medical Science

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:139 ISBN 978-91-8021-637-1 ISSN 1652-8220



From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

Elisabeth Bankell



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on the 5th of December at 09.00 in Belfragesalen, BMC D15, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Klinikgatan 32, Lund, Sweden

> Faculty opponent Professor Johan Bylund Department of Oral Microbiology and Immunology, University of Gothenburg

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Experimental Medical Science

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Author(s): Elisabeth Bankell

Date of issue: December 5, 2024

Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle: From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

Abstract:

The innate immune system is our first line of defense against harmful threats, relying on leukocytes to recognize general danger signals and respond rapidly. The inflammatory response activates pathways to eliminate threats and restore homeostasis, which often results in apoptosis to eliminate injured cells and prevent prolonged inflammation. Leukocytes secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines to recruit more immune cells, and produce host defense peptides (HDP), including LL-37, which permeabilizes pathogen membranes, leading to cell death. However, high concentrations of LL-37 can also cause host cell cytotoxicity. Non-immune cells, such as smooth muscle cells (SMCs), also contribute to inflammation by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines. SMCs can exist in a contractile (differentiated) or synthetic (dedifferentiated) state, with the latter contributing to pro-inflammatory cytokines and associated with disease. Myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) regulate the SMC contractile phenotype but their impact on inflammation has been inconclusive.

This thesis explores how SMCs contribute to the inflammatory microenvironment, focusing on the antiinflammatory role of MRTFs. We found that MRTFs interact with key proteins of pro-inflammatory pathways, such as ReIA/p65 in NF-κB signaling (paper I) and TBK1 in the cGAS-STING pathway (paper II), reducing inflammation in SMCs from both vasculature and airways. Additionally, we studied LL-37's role in inducing host cell cytotoxicity, revealing that it permeabilizes mitochondrial membranes, leading to caspase-independent apoptosis (paper III and IV).

In conclusion, this thesis provides new insights into the regulation of inflammatory responses, highlighting the role of non-immune cells like SMCs in immune regulation. We have demonstrated that MRTFs reduce inflammation by modulating key signaling pathways, and that LL-37 can induce host cell cytotoxicity. These findings enhance our understanding of immune regulation and could contribute to developing novel therapies for inflammatory diseases by targeting dysregulated immune responses.

Key words: Innate immunity, host defense peptides, LL-37, smooth muscle cells, myocardin-related transcription factors, inflammation, cGAS-STING, NF-κB, apoptosis

Classification system and/or index te	Supplementary bibliographical information					
Language English		Number of pages: 99				
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220						
ISBN: 978-91-8021-637-1						
Recipient's notes	Price	Security classification				

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-10-28

From Inflammation to Apoptosis with Focus on Non-Classical Immune Cells

Elisabeth Bankell



Coverphoto by Elisabeth Bankell, illustration created in BioRender.com Copyright pp 1-99 Elisabeth Bankell

Paper I © 2021 by the Authors (CC-BY 4.0, published by Frontiers) Paper II © 2024 by the Authors (CC-BY 4.0, published by Springer Nature) Paper III © 2021 by the Authors (CC-BY 4.0, published by Elsevier) Paper IV © 2021 by the Authors (CC-BY 4.0, pulished by Elsevier)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Experimental Medical Science

ISBN 978-91-8021-637-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

To my family \mathbf{V}

"Then, I was inspired Now I'm, sad and tired Listen, surely I've exceeded expectations Tried for three years, seems like thirty Could you ask as much from any other man?"

- Gethsemane (I Only Want To Say) by Andrew Lloyd Webber

"Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is the time to understand more, so that we may fear less."

- Marie Curie

Table of Contents

	Abstract	13
	Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	14
	List of Papers	16
	Published Papers Not Included in the Thesis	17
	Selected Abbreviations	18
	Prologue	19
Intr	oduction	21
Inti	The Immune System	21
	Colla Involved in the Immune Despense and Collular Communication	21
	The Immune Cells	21
	Cytokines and Chemokines	21
	Non-Classical Immune Cells	26
	Smooth Muscle Cells	27
	Smooth Muscle Structure and Function	27
	Phenotypic Switching	29
	Smooth Muscle Cell Transcriptional Regulation	31
	Myocardin-Related Transcription Factors	32
	Innate Immunity	34
	First Line of Defense	34
	PAMPs	35
	DAMPs	35
	Pattern-Recognition Receptors	36
	Host Defense Peptides	38
	LL-37	39
	Structure of LL-37	40
	Antimicrobial and Antiviral Activities	41
	Immunomodulatory Activity	41
	LL-37 in Disease	42
	Inflammation	45
	Acute Inflammation	46

Chronic Inflammation	46
Inflammatory Pathways	46
The NF-κB Pathway	47
The cGAS-STING Pathway	49
Apoptosis	
The Intrinsic and Extrinsic Pathways	51
Caspase-Independent Apoptosis	
Necroptosis and Pyroptosis	54
Aims	57
Material and Methods	59
Cell Culture (Study I-IV)	59
Overexpression and Silencing (Study I-II)	60
Gene Expression Analysis	60
Transcriptomics Analysis (Study I-II)	60
RT-qPCR (Study I-II)	61
Protein Detection	62
Western Blotting (Study I-IV)	62
Dot blotting (Study I, II and VI)	
ELISA (Study I)	
Immunocytochemistry (Study I, and IV)	
Co-Immunoprecipitation (Study I-II)	64
Cell Cytotoxicity Assays	65
MTT Assay (Study III)	65
LDH Assay (Study III)	
Subcellular Fractionation (Study IV)	
Results and Discussion	67
Paper I	67
Paper II	70
Paper III	73
Paper VI	76
Concluding Remarks	79
Future Perspectives	81
Acknowledgements	83
References	



Abstract

The innate immune system is our first line of defense against harmful threats, relying on leukocytes to recognize general danger signals and respond rapidly. The inflammatory response activates pathways to eliminate threats and restore homeostasis, which often results in apoptosis to eliminate injured cells and prevent prolonged inflammation. Leukocytes secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines to recruit more immune cells, and produce host defense peptides (HDP), including LL-37, which permeabilizes pathogen membranes, leading to cell death. However, high concentrations of LL-37 can also cause host cell cytotoxicity. Non-immune cells, such as smooth muscle cells (SMCs), also contribute to inflammation by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines. SMCs can exist in a contractile (differentiated) or synthetic (dedifferentiated) state, with the latter contributing to pro-inflammatory cytokines and associated with disease. Myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) regulate the SMC contractile phenotype but their impact on inflammation has been inconclusive.

This thesis explores how SMCs contribute to the inflammatory microenvironment, focusing on the anti-inflammatory role of MRTFs. We found that MRTFs interact with key proteins of pro-inflammatory pathways, such as RelA/p65 in NF- κ B signaling (paper I) and TBK1 in the cGAS-STING pathway (paper II), reducing inflammation in SMCs from both vasculature and airways. Additionally, we studied LL-37's role in inducing host cell cytotoxicity, revealing that it permeabilizes mitochondrial membranes, leading to caspase-independent apoptosis (paper III and IV).

In conclusion, this thesis provides new insights into the regulation of inflammatory responses, highlighting the role of non-immune cells like SMCs in immune regulation. We have demonstrated that MRTFs reduce inflammation by modulating key signaling pathways, and that LL-37 can induce host cell cytotoxicity. These findings enhance our understanding of immune regulation and could contribute to developing novel therapies for inflammatory diseases by targeting dysregulated immune responses.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Inflammation är kroppens svar på när något inte är som det ska, exempelvis när vi får en infektion eller skadar oss. Det börjar när våra immunceller känner igen tecken som signalerar fara. Dessa tecken kan komma utifrån och vara exempelvis delar av bakterier eller virus. Men de kan också komma inifrån, exempelvis när våra egna celler är skadade och går sönder och det läcker ut proteiner eller DNA som annars enbart hade funnits inuti cellen. Inflammation som sker i frånvaro av bakterier eller virus kallas för en steril inflammation. Under inflammationen utsöndrar immunceller olika proteiner, så kallade cytokiner, för att signalera fara och för att rekrytera fler immunceller till det inflammerade området. Syftet med inflammationen är att eliminera hotet och att återställa kroppens balans. I vissa sjukdomar kan inflammationen dock bli kronisk och fortsätta trots att den ursprungliga skadan är reparerad. Detta kan ske om kroppen felaktigt identifierar sina egna celler som skadliga, eller om inflammationen inte regleras på rätt sätt.

I den här avhandlingen har jag studerat det medfödda immunförsvaret. Jag har dels fokuserat på hur icke-immunceller, såsom glatta muskelceller, kan signalera fara och bidra till en inflammatorisk miljö. Glatta muskelceller är ansvariga för ofrivilliga rörelser i organ som tarmarna och i blodkärlen. I normala fall är de glatta muskelcellerna i kärlväggen kontraktila, vilket innebär att de spänner sig för att minska kärlets storlek vilket ökar blodtrycket, eller slappnar av så att kärlets väggar utvidgas och blodtrycket minskar. Vid sjukdom har man sett att de glatta muskelcellerna tappar den kontraktila förmågan och istället utsöndrar cytokiner. Myokardin-relaterade transkriptionsfaktorer (MRTFs) är proteiner som ser till att de glatta muskelcellerna är i sitt kontraktila tillstånd. I åderförkalkning har man sett att nivåerna av MRTFs i glatta muskelceller sjunker. Exakt hur MRTFs bidrar till den inflammatoriska miljön har varit omdiskuterat, vissa studier har visat att MRTFs ökar det inflammatoriska svaret medan andra har visat att MRTFs minskar inflammation. I denna avhandling visar vi att glatta muskelceller som har höga nivåer av MRTFs utsöndrar en mindre mängd inflammatoriska cytokiner. Detta beror på att MRTFs binder till och blockerar viktiga komponenter i inflammatoriska signalvägar, vilket leder till att dessa stängs av.

I avhandlingen har jag även studerat hur den antimikrobiella peptiden LL-37 kan skada kroppens egna celler. Våra immunceller har olika sätt att hantera skadliga ämnen, varav ett sätt är att utsöndra antimikrobiella peptider. Dessa peptider har som funktion att tränga igenom bakteriers cellväggar och se till att dessa går sönder och att bakterien dör. Höga halter har dock visat sig kunna orsaka skada på våra egna celler. Höga koncentrationer av den viktiga antimikrobiella peptiden LL-37 har kopplats till flera kroniska inflammatoriska sjukdomar, bland annat psoriasis, där höga halter hittats i hudsåren. I avhandlingen visar vi att höga koncentrationer av LL-37 kan orsaka skada på kroppsegna celler genom att tränga sig igenom cellmembranet vilket leder till att viktiga proteiner inuti cellen läcker ut. Vi ser även

att LL-37 kan orsaka programmerad celldöd (apoptos) utan att involvera caspaser, som normalt är associerade med denna process. Vi fann också att LL-37 orsakar skada på mitokondrier, cellens energifabrik, vilket leder till att proteiner som bryter ner cellens DNA frigörs, vilket i sin tur leder till apoptos. Apoptos är ett sätt för cellen att dö på kontrollerat sätt att utan att orsaka mer inflammation. Apoptos är också en vanlig sista utväg för skadade celler under en inflammation, som ett sätt att återställa balansen igen.

Sammanfattningsvis har detta arbete ökat förståelsen för hur vårt medfödda immunförsvar reglerar inflammation och eliminerar skadade värdceller. Vår forskning kan förhoppningsvis bidra till utvecklingen av nya läkemedel för att hjälpa patienter med inflammatoriska sjukdomar.

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals:

- I. Liu L*, Bankell E*, Rippe C, Morén B, Stenkula KG, Nilsson B-O, Swärd K. Cell Type Dependent Suppression of Inflammatory Mediators by Myocardin Related Transcription Factors. Front Physiol. 2021 Oct; 12:732564. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.732564. PMID: 34671275.
- II. Bankell E, Liu L, van der Horst J, Rippe C, Jepps TA, Nilsson B-O, Swärd K. Suppression of smooth muscle cell inflammation by myocardin-related transcription factors involves inactivation of TANK-binding kinase 1. Sci Rep. 2024 Jun;14(1):13321. doi: 10.1038/s41598-024-63901-3. PMID: 38858497.
- III. Bankell E, Dahl S, Gidlöf O, Svensson D, Nilsson B-O. LL-37-induced caspase-independent apoptosis is associated with plasma membrane permeabilization in human osteoblast-like cells. Peptides. 2021 Jan;135:170432. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2020.170432. PMID: 33129893.
- IV. Bankell E, Liu X, Lundqvist M, Svensson D, Swärd K, Sparr E, Nilsson B-O. The antimicrobial peptide LL-37 triggers release of apoptosis-inducing factor and shows direct effects on mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2021 Dec;29:101192. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrep.2021.101192. PMID: 34988298.

* Authors contributed equally.

Published Papers Not Included in the Thesis

- I. Aidoukovitch A, **Bankell E**, Davies JR, Nilsson B-O. Exogenous LL-37 but not homogenates of desquamated oral epithelial cells shows activity against *Streptococcus mutans*. Acta Odontol Scand. 2021 Aug;79(6):466-472. doi: 10.1080/00016357.2021.1892180. PMID: 33687301.
- II. Aidoukovitch A, Bankell E, Svensson D, Nilsson B-O. Vitamin D triggers hCAP18/LL-37 production: Implications for LL-37-induced human osteoblast cytotoxicity. BBRC. 2024 Jun;712-713:149962 doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2024.149962. PMID: 38642493.

Selected Abbreviations

AIF	Apoptosis inducing factor
AMPs	Antimicrobial peptides
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
dsDNA	Double-stranded DNA
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
ECM	Extracellular matrix
hCAP18	Human cathelicidin antimicrobial protein 18
HDPs	Host defense peptides
IFNs	Interferons
IL	Interleukin
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MRTFs	Myocardin-related transcription factors
MRTF-A	Myocardin-related transcription factor A
MRTF-B	Myocardin-related transcription factor B
MYOCD	Myocardin
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PRRs	Pattern-recognition receptors
SMCs	Smooth muscle cells
SRF	Serum response factor
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
TBK1	TANK-binding kinase 1
TLRs	Toll-like receptors

Prologue

Over the past two decades, our understanding of the immune system has advanced considerably. The earlier belief that the immune system's sole function was to distinguish between 'self' and 'non-self' to defend against invading pathogens has evolved. We now understand that inflammation can arise even in the absence of pathogens, a phenomenon known as sterile inflammation. Sterile inflammation can be triggered by tissue and cell damage and can lead to chronic inflammation if prolonged. Inflammation is an important process aimed to restore homeostasis, but excess inflammation, without the resolution phase, can result in cell death and tissue degeneration including loss of function.

While immune cells with their molecules and proteins are central to the immune system, it is now more widely recognized that cells not traditionally considered part of the immune system also may have important immunological roles. These non-classical immune cells can modulate immune responses, regulate inflammation, and contribute to tissue repair.

This thesis will focus specifically on the components of innate immunity and the roles of non-classical immune cells, exploring their contributions to immune defense, tissue homeostasis, and inflammation.

Introduction

The Immune System

The immune system is a complex network of disease-fighting cells, distributed throughout the blood, lymphatic system, tissues, and organs of the body. These cells protect the host by distinguishing between 'self' and 'non-self', identifying and neutralizing harmful agents such as invading pathogens, foreign substances, and damaged cells (1).

The immune system can be classified into two main categories: innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity, a highly conserved system, present across a wide range of species, provides the first line of defense against foreign substances, pathogens or damaged cells without needing to recognize their specific identities. This broad-spectrum defense mechanism is why innate immune responses are also referred to as a generalized and fast defense system. In contrast, adaptive immunity provides a more specialized response. It relies on the specific recognition of foreign substances or cells by lymphocytes, leading to targeted attacks. While adaptive immunity is slower to respond than innate immunity, it offers a tailored defense that improves with repeated exposure to the same pathogen (1-3).

Despite their differences, innate and adaptive immune responses are interconnected and synergistic. Components of the innate immune system provides signals that activate the cells responsible for adaptive responses, ensuring a coordinated and effective defense against potential threats (1,3).

Cells Involved in the Immune Response and Cellular Communication

The Immune Cells

The immune system is composed of various white blood cells collectively known as leukocytes. Unlike red blood cells (erythrocytes), leukocytes can exit the circulatory system and enter tissues to perform their functions (1). Leukocytes are classified into two main groups: myeloid cells and lymphoid cells. Myeloid cells include neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, and monocytes, which are primarily involved in innate immune responses. These cells are essential for the rapid and broad-spectrum defense mechanisms, such as phagocytosis and the release of inflammatory mediators (1,2).

Lymphoid cells consist of several types of lymphocytes, including B lymphocytes (B cells), T lymphocytes (T cells), and natural killer (NK) cells. The lymphocytes are connected to the adaptive immune response, characterized by its ability to recognize and target specific pathogens. Despite belonging to the lymphoid lineage, NK cells operate within the innate immune system (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Overview of immune cells in the innate and adaptive immune systems. The innate immune system (left) includes granulocytes (neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils), which provide rapid responses, and phagocytes (macrophages, neutrophils), which engulf pathogens. Dendritic cells present antigens to T cells, linking innate and adaptive immunity. Natural killer (NK) cells target infected and tumor cells, while mast cells release histamine during allergic reactions. The adaptive immune system (right) includes B cells, which produce antibodies via plasma cells, and T cells, which include T helper cells that coordinate immune responses and cytotoxic T cells that directly kill infected and abnormal cells. Adaptive immunity provides a slower but more targeted response to pathogens. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the most abundant type of leukocyte, primarily found circulating in blood. During early stages of infection or injury, the production and release of neutrophils from the bone marrow are increased, and they leave the capillaries and

enter the affected tissues (1). Once inside the tissues, neutrophils engulf pathogens through a process called phagocytosis, where parts of the cytoplasmic membrane forms vesicles around pathogens, cellular debris, or foreign particles. The engulfed pathogens are then destroyed within these endocytotic vesicles by proteases, oxidizing compounds, and cationic proteins (2,4).

Basophils and Mast Cells

Basophils and mast cells are relatively few compared to other leukocytes, yet they are important in severe immune responses (2). Basophils releases heparin, an anticoagulant, at infection sites, which aids in flushing out the infected area through increased circulation. Both basophils and mast cells secrete histamine, which promotes the attraction of other immune cells and proteins to the site of infection, amplifying the immune response and moreover causing vasodilation (1).

Eosinophils

Eosinophils are present in the blood and mucosal surfaces lining the gastrointestinal, respiratory, and urinary tracts. Their primary function is to protect the host from parasitic infections. Eosinophils combat parasites by releasing toxic substances and, to a lesser extent, through phagocytosis (1).

Monocytes and Macrophages

Monocytes are circulating phagocytes that remain in the bloodstream for a short period before migrating into tissues, where they differentiate into macrophages. Macrophages are widely distributed throughout nearly all organs and tissues. Their primary role is to carry out phagocytosis. These cells are strategically located in areas where they are most likely to encounter pathogens, such as the skin and the internal surfaces of the respiratory and digestive tracts (1).

Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are key players in the adaptive immune response, consisting of various cell types with specialized roles. B cells produce antibodies and, upon encountering an antigen, differentiate into plasma cells that secrete these antibodies. The antibodies then bind to pathogens, marking them for destruction by other immune cells. Cytotoxic T cells target and destroy infected or abnormal cells, such as those infected with viruses or tumor cells. They recognize antigens presented on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules and, upon binding, release perforins, which creates pores in the target cell, allowing granzymes to enter and induce apoptosis. Helper T cells coordinate immune responses by releasing signaling molecules, cytokines, that activate B cells and cytotoxic T cells. T helper cells recognize antigens presented on MHC class II molecules (2).

Natural Killer Cells

NK cells, although morphologically similar to lymphocytes, do not have specific antigen receptors. They identify abnormal cells through two mechanisms. First, NK cells have immunoglobulin receptors that bind to antibody-coated targets, initiating antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Second, NK cells recognize the absence of MHC class I molecules on target cells. If MHC class I is missing, NK cells are activated to lyse the target by releasing perforins and granzymes to trigger apoptosis. In healthy cells, MHC class I molecules bind to NK cell receptors and inhibit cell death. However, tumors and virus-infected cells often downregulate MHC class I, making them less detectable by cytotoxic T cells, while becoming more susceptible to destruction by NK cells (2).

Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells are known for their ability to capture, process, and present antigens to initiate adaptive immune responses. These highly motile cells are distributed throughout nearly all tissues, with a high concentration at barrier sites such as the digestive tract, where internal and external environments meet. Upon encountering and phagocytosing pathogens, dendritic cells become activated, migrate via lymphatic vessels to secondary lymphoid organs, and present processed antigens and active T cells (1).

Cytokines and Chemokines

The immune cells secrete a diverse array of signaling proteins that regulate host cell proliferation and function in innate and adaptive immune responses. These proteins are collectively known as cytokines, each with its own unique name. Unlike hormones produced by specialized glands, cytokines are generated by various individual cells. Their actions primarily occur at the sites of secretion but can in some cases enter the blood stream and exert effects on distant organs and tissues (1).

Cytokines are crucial in linking the components of the immune system. They form a chemical communication network that facilitates cross-talk between different immune cells, ensuring the precise timing and coordination of immune functions. Most cytokines are secreted by multiple types of cells, both immune cells and nonimmune cells, often resulting in cascades of cytokine secretion, where one cytokine stimulates the release of another. Each cytokine can act on a wide range of target cells, amplifying and fine-tuning the immune response. Depending on their function, cytokines can have pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory effects, or act as chemoattractants, stimulating the migration of specific immune cells known as chemotaxis. Cytokines with chemoattractant properties are known as chemokines (1,5). Chemokines are classified into four subfamilies: CXC, CC, CX₃C, and XC, with the "C" representing cysteine residues in their amino acid sequences. CXC chemokines, also known as α -chemokines, are distinguished by the presence of a single amino acid between the first two cysteine residues (C-X-C), while CC chemokines, or β -chemokines, have two adjacent cysteines (C-C). The CX₃C chemokine subfamily is defined by the presence of three amino acids between the cysteine residues (C-X-X-C), and XC chemokines lack the first and the third cysteines of the motif (6). The α -chemokines primarily act as chemoattractants for neutrophils, while β -chemokines mainly attract monocytes and macrophages to the site of inflammation (5,6). Common pro-inflammatory cytokines studied in my papers and their classifications and functions can be seen in table 1.

Table 1. Pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Overview of key pro-inflammatory cytokines studied in this thesis. The table highlights cytokines that play crucial roles in mediating inflammatory responses.

Cytokine	Family	Subfamily	Function	Inflammatory role
IL-1β	Interleukin	-	Promotes inflammation; induces fever, and activates endothelial cells and leukocytes	Pro- inflammatory
ΙL-1α	Interleukin	-	Promotes inflammation; induces fever, and activates endothelial cells and leukocytes	Pro- inflammatory
IL-6	Interleukin	-	Induces acute phase proteins	Pro- inflammatory
CCL2 (MCP-1)	Chemokine	CC	Recruits monocytes to sites of inflammation	Pro- inflammatory
CXCL8 (IL-8)	Chemokine	CXC	Chemoattracant for neutrophils, basophils, and T cells	Pro- inflammatory
CXCL1 (GRO-α)	Chemokine	CXC	Chemoattractant for neutrophils; involved in inflammation and wound healing	Pro- inflammatory
CXCL3	Chemokine	CXC	Chemoattractant for neutrophils	Pro- inflammatory
CXCL5	Chemokine	CXC	Attracts neutrophils and promotes angiogenesis during inflammation	Pro- inflammatory
LIF (Leukemia Inhibitory Factor)	Interleukin- 6 Family	-	Involved in immune response regulation and may have roles in inflammation and autoimmunity	Pro- inflammatory

Non-immune cells can produce a variety of cytokines and other signaling molecules, which contribute to the overall regulation of the surrounding microenvironment (7–9). An example of this is cellular senescence. Cellular senescence occurs when cells permanently stop dividing in response to various stressors, such as DNA damage, oxidative stress, or oncogene activation (9,10).

Contrary to being inactive, senescent cells develop altered secretory activities where they secrete a broad array of cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and proteases, known as the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (9). Among the key elements of the SASP are the upregulation and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-1 (IL-1 α and - β) in senescent cells. These cytokines can influence neighboring cells through cellsurface receptors, activating inflammatory pathways. Additionally, senescent cells secrete chemokines like IL-8 (*CXCL8*), GRO- α (*CXCL1*) and MCP-1 (*CCL2*), to attract immune cells (11). The factors secreted as part of the SASP not only promote inflammation but also alter the extracellular matrix and influence the behavior of neighboring cells. This process can lead to chronic inflammation, and thereby contribute to age-related diseases (9).

Non-Classical Immune Cells

In addition to immune cells, various non-immune cells contribute to immune regulation during inflammation and tissue damage. These cells, primarily responsible for maintaining structural and physiological functions, can become active participants in immune processes through the secretion of cytokines, chemokine, and other signaling molecules (12).

Fibroblasts are essential for maintaining the structural integrity of connective tissues. However, they also contribute to immune responses by expressing cell surface receptors, so called Toll-like receptors (TLRs), enabling them to detect pathogens or damage signals. When activated, fibroblasts produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that recruit immune cells to sites of injury or infection. This capacity to modulate immune activity links fibroblasts directly to processes such as wound healing and fibrosis (8,13).

Epithelial cells, forming the outer surfaces of organs including the skin, lungs, and gastrointestinal tract, also contribute to immune defense. They act as both a physical barrier and an active participant in immune surveillance. They detect pathogens through TLRs and other receptors, producing antimicrobial peptides and cytokines that initiate immune responses (8,14).

Endothelial cells, lining the interior of the blood vessels, are key players in regulating immune cell trafficking. They express adhesion molecules that allow immune cells to adhere to the vascular wall and migrate into tissues in response to infection or injury (15). Additionally, endothelial cells release cytokines that regulate inflammation and vascular permeability (16).

Smooth muscle cells (SMCs) are another example of non-immune cells that can influence the immune response. These cells are responsible for the contractility of blood vessels, airways, and other organs, and can shift from a contractile phenotype to a synthetic, pro-inflammatory, phenotype in response to injury or disease. This

shift involves the production of cytokines and chemokines that attract immune cells, contributing to inflammation in diseases such as atherosclerosis and asthma (16–18).

Smooth Muscle Cells

Smooth muscle is one of the three main types of muscles in the body, alongside skeletal and cardiac muscle. While skeletal muscle primarily controls voluntary movements and cardiac muscle drives the rhythmic contraction of the heart, smooth muscle plays a role in regulating involuntary internal processes in for example the cardiovascular system and the gastrointestinal tract (19).

SMCs are found surrounding various hollow organs and structures that undergo changes in volume, such as blood vessels, the stomach, intestines, bladder, airways, and uterus. These cells are essential for the proper functioning of these organs by contracting or relaxing to accommodate changes in volume (Figure 2). For instance, in blood vessels, SMCs adjust the diameter of the vessel wall, thereby regulating blood flow, vascular tone and blood pressure. SMCs are spindle-shaped and have a diameter ranging from 2-10 μ m and lengths that can vary between 50-400 μ m, depending on their location in the body (19).

Unlike skeletal and cardiac muscle, smooth muscle lacks the distinctive crossstriated banding pattern created by sarcomeres, which are formed by the regular alignment of actin and myosin filaments in skeletal muscles. This absence gives smooth muscle its "smooth" appearance. Another unique feature of SMCs is their single nucleus and their capacity to divide throughout life (19).

Smooth Muscle Structure and Function

Smooth muscle is regulated by a range of factors, including hormones, autocrine and paracrine agents, and other local chemical signals. Contraction is primarily triggered by receptor activation or mechanical stretching, which in turn activates the contractile proteins actin and myosin. A change in membrane potential, whether through action potentials or the activation of stretch-dependent ions channels, can also initiate contraction (20).

The contraction process begins when calcium ions enter the cell, activating myosin light chain kinase (MLCK). MLCK phosphorylates the myosin light chain, enabling the formation of cross-bridges between myosin and actin, which leads to muscle contraction. Relaxation is dependent on myosin phosphatase, causing dephosphorylation of myosin light chains. One of the key features of smooth muscle is its ability to sustain contraction for long periods, often with minimal energy

demand, making it highly efficient in maintaining functions such as vascular tone (20).



Figure 2. Structural organization of smooth muscle cells. Smooth muscle cells possess an arrangement of thick (myosin) and thin (actin) filaments, which are organized diagonally across the cell. These filaments are anchored to either the plasma membrane or dense bodies within the cytoplasm. Upon activation, the actin and myosin filaments slide past one another, leading to the shortening and thickening of the cell. This structural arrangement facilitates smooth muscle contraction, enabling critical physiological functions such as vasoconstrictions and vasodilation. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Structurally, SMCs are often interconnected, forming sheetlike layers that can contract in a coordinated manner. Actin filaments in smooth muscle are anchored to regions called dense bodies within the cytoplasm and dense bands located on the cell membrane, which function similarly to the Z-lines in skeletal muscle by providing anchorage points for actin. The myosin filaments alternate between the actin filaments in a side-polar arrangement, allowing smooth muscle to contract more extensively and with greater flexibility than skeletal or cardiac muscle (Figure 2) (19).

SMCs are typically classified into two types: single-unit or multiunit. Single-unit SMCs, found in structures like the gastrointestinal tract, small blood vessels, and

the uterus, contract in a coordinated fashion due to the presence of gap junctions that electrically couple the cells, enabling them to function as a single unit. In contrast, multiunit SMCs, found in structures like large arteries and airways, contract more independently, with each cell receiving separate nerve supply. It is important to note, however, that most smooth muscles display a combination of characteristics from both single-unit and multiunit types, representing a spectrum of properties rather than only belonging to one category (19).

Phenotypic Switching

SMCs are highly specialized and differentiated in adult tissues, with their primary role being to maintain organ function through contraction and relaxation. In their mature state, SMCs show a low rate of proliferation, migration, and express a unique repertoire of contractile proteins, ions channels, and signaling molecules that are essential for smooth muscle contraction (21). Several genes specific to SMCs have been identified and are widely used as markers for their differentiated state. These include smooth muscle-specific isoforms of contractile proteins, such as smooth muscle α -actin (*ACTA2*) and smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (*MYH11*), which are critical components of the contractile apparatus (21–23).

One distinguishing feature of mature SMCs is their plasticity. Unlike skeletal and cardiac muscle cells, which are terminally differentiated and lose their capacity to alter their phenotype (24), SMCs retain the ability to adapt to environmental cues and extracellular signals. This plasticity allows SMCs to respond to physiological changes and external stimuli by shifting between different functional states (25).

Under normal conditions, SMCs maintain a contractile phenotype, focused on their primary function of regulating organ contraction. However, in response to injury or inflammation, they can undergo phenotypic switching to a synthetic phenotype (Figure 3) (26). In this state, SMCs show increased proliferation and migration, along with enhanced synthetic activity, producing extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins and cytokines (27). Phenotypic modulation is crucial in pathological processes such as vascular remodeling in atherosclerosis (23,25) and airway remodeling in chronic respiratory diseases (18,28). The ability of SMCs to shift between contractile and synthetic states highlights their dynamic nature and their central role in both tissue homeostasis and disease progression (29).



Figure 3. Phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells. Smooth muscle cells (SMCs) show phenotypic plasticity, switching between a differentiated (contractile) state and a dedifferentiated (synthetic) state in response to various stimuli. In the contractile phenotype, cells show high expression of contractile genes, have low rates of proliferation and migration, and express minimal extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, maintaining a spindle shape. In contrast, SMCs in the synthetic phenotype show low expression of contractile genes, increased proliferation and migration, and higher expression of ECM proteins, adopting a rhomboid shape. This modulation plays a role in tissue repair and pathological processes such as vascular remodeling and atherosclerosis. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Atherosclerosis

Cardiovascular diseases are among the leading causes of death worldwide (30,31). Atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory disease affecting the arterial wall, accounts for more than 80% of cardiovascular disease-related mortality (32).

During the progression of atherosclerosis, SMCs undergo phenotypic switching, transitioning from their contractile state to a synthetic phenotype. This shift allows SMCs to migrate from the medial layer of the artery into the intima, where they proliferate and secrete ECM components such as collagen and elastin, forming the fibrous cap that stabilizes the atherosclerotic plaque (Figure 4) (25,33). The fibrous cap is vital for plaque stability, preventing rupture and the associated risk of thrombosis. In addition to their role in fibrous cap formation, SMCs can also take on macrophage-like characteristics, including the ability to engulf oxidized low-density lipoproteins (LDL) (34). This leads to the formation of SMC-derived foam cells, which contribute to lipid accumulation, promote the expansion of the necrotic core, and worsen the inflammatory environment within the plaque, ultimately increasing the risk of plaque instability and rupture (33,34).

One of the factors influencing SMC behavior is the mechanical environment. Research has demonstrated that changes in mechanical stretch or ECM stiffness can induce phenotypic modulations in SMCs. For example, when SMCs are removed from their native environment and cultured *in vitro* on rigid plastic or collagen I substrates, they often lose their contractile characteristics and adopt a more

proliferative, synthetic phenotype (35–37). This change is partly due to the absence of mechanical cues and ECM components that regulate SMC function *in vivo* and can mimic the phenotypic modulation observed in atherosclerosis (25).



Atherosclerotic plaque

Figure 4. Structure of an atherosclerotic plaque. Atherosclerotic plaques feature a fibrous cap that separates the plaque from the arterial lumen. Beneath the cap is the necrotic core, composed of dead cells, lipid deposits, and extracellular debris. Immune cells, including macrophages, infiltrate the lesion, driving plaque progression and instability. Smooth muscle cells are also involved in the remodeling of the plaque, with some migrating from the media to the intima, contributing to plaque stability. Foam cells, derived from macrophages, accumulate within the necrotic core as they engulf oxidized LDL cholesterol, and these cells play a significant role in the development of the plaque. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Smooth Muscle Cell Transcriptional Regulation

The transcriptional program that controls SMC identity is tightly regulated by a complex network of transcriptional regulators (25). This network consists of transcription factors and their associated co-regulators, including co-activators and

co-repressors, which either promote or suppress target gene expression. The coregulators lack the DNA-binding domains and cannot directly bind to DNA. Instead, they modulate gene expression by interacting with transcription factors.

A key transcription factor in smooth muscle differentiation and gene expression is serum response factor (SRF), a member of the MADS-box family of transcription factors. SRF binds with high affinity to CArG boxes, which are A/T-rich regulatory elements located in the promoter regions of smooth muscle-specific genes. Many genes that encode contractile proteins contain at least two CArG boxes in their promoter regions, underscoring the importance of SRF in driving the expression of these genes (38–42).

To promote the contractile phenotype of SMCs, SRF interacts with co-activators from the myocardin-related transcription factor (MRTF) family, which includes myocardin (*MYOCD*), myocardin-related transcription factor A (MRTF-A/MRTFA), and myocardin-related transcription factor B (MRTF-B/MRTFB) (25,42).

Myocardin-Related Transcription Factors

Myocardin, the founding member of the MRTF family, is recognized as a master regulator of SMC differentiation (25). Myocardin expression is primarily restricted to cardiac and smooth muscle cells, whereas MRTF-A and MRTF-B, the other members of the MRTF family, are more broadly expressed across various cell types. MRTF-A is most abundant in fibroblasts and SMCs, while MRTF-B is primarily expressed in endothelial cells (43). Upon activation, MRTF-A and MRTF-B translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, where they influence gene expression.

The activity of MRTF-A and MRTF-B is closely linked to actin dynamics (44–46), and their regulation is sensitive to mechanical cues, such as stretch and matrix stiffness (47,48). In vascular SMCs, the cytoskeleton undergoes continuous remodeling, with actin filaments assembling and disassembling through polymerization and depolymerization processes. Actin occurs in two forms: monomeric globular actin (G-actin) and polymeric filamentous actin (F-actin) (44). Actin polymerization can be triggered by various signaling pathways, and pharmacological agents can modulate this process. For example, Jasplakinolide stabilizes F-actin (49), while Latrunculin B promotes actin depolymerization by preventing the assembly of G-actin into F-actin (50).



Figure 5. Regulation of MRTF-A by actin polymerization. MRTF-A activity is controlled by the dynamics of the actin cytoskeleton. When actin exists in its globular (G-actin) form, MRTF-A is retained in the cytoplasm. Upon activation of Rho-GTPases, actin polymerizes into filamentous actin (F-actin), which reduces the binding of MRTF-A to G-actin. This release allow MRTF-A to translocate into the nucleus, where it interacts with SRF to drive the transcription of SMC contractile genes. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

MRTF-A and MRTF-B have RPEL motifs at the N terminus, which bind to G-actin and inhibit their nuclear translocation and activation (44). Upon actin polymerization, G-actin dissociates from the RPEL motif, allowing MRTF-A and MRTF-B to translocate to the nucleus and activate the expression of target genes as described in Figure 5 (51,52).

In contrast to the other MRTFs, myocardin is constitutively expressed in the nucleus (25). Disruption of the myocardin gene in SMCs of adult mice has been shown to result in arterial aneurysms, indicating its critical role in maintaining vascular integrity (53). Interestingly, myocardin expression deceases when SMCs switch from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype, a transition that is implicated in atherosclerosis progression (54,55).

In addition to their role in regulating SMC contractility, recent studies suggest that MRTFs also have anti-inflammatory effects, inhibiting the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (55,56). However, conflicting evidence suggests MRTFs may also promote inflammation under certain conditions (57–59).
The opposing roles of MRTFs in inflammation may depend on the specific MRTF family member, the cell type, or the inflammatory stimulus. Since atherosclerosis is common and may cause stroke and myocardial infarction, and smooth muscle phenotypic switching occurs in its progression, further research is needed to determine whether MRTFs act as pro- or anti-inflammatory regulators in the vascular wall.

Innate Immunity

The innate immune system provides the body's first line of defense against potential threats, responding rapidly and non-specifically to a wide range of danger signals and molecular patterns associated with harm. These patterns can include specific classes of carbohydrates and lipids found in microbial cell walls, as well as endogenous danger signals, such as nucleic acids or proteins, released by the body's own cells when they are damaged or under stress. Plasma membrane receptors on immune cells, along with various circulating proteins, recognize and bind to these molecular patterns, triggering a cascade of innate immune responses. This system includes both physical barriers at the body's surfaces and the inflammatory response to injury or infection (1).

First Line of Defense

Although they are not classified as immune responses, the body's first line of defense against various external threats consists of the barriers provided by surfaces exposed to the external environment. Intact skin is particularly effective, as it prevents the entry of most pathogens and harmful substances, such as chemicals, toxins, and physical damage. Additional surface defenses include the hairs at the entrance of the nose and the reflex actions of coughing and sneezing, which help remove irritants, dust, and potentially harmful substances from the respiratory system. Various glands, such as those in the skin, salivary glands, and lacrimal glands, contribute more actively to immunity by secreting antimicrobial substances. These secretions may contain antibodies, enzymes like lysozymes, which break down bacterial cell walls, and lactoferrin, an iron-binding protein that starves bacteria of the iron necessary for their survival (1).

Antimicrobial peptides, also called host defense peptides, play a crucial role in this first line of defense. Produced by epithelial cells in the skin and mucosal areas, these peptides help to directly kill pathogens at the site of entry. The mucus produced by the epithelial linings of the respiratory and upper gastrointestinal tracts also contain antimicrobial agents, including these peptides. The mucus is sticky and will trap particles and prevent them from entering the bloodstream. In the upper respiratory

tract, these trapped particles are either moved up to the pharynx by ciliary action and swallowed, or they are phagocytosed by macrophages within the various linings (1).

Lastly, the acidic environment of the stomach can kill many pathogens, though some bacteria are able to survive and colonize the large intestine, where they contribute to beneficial gastrointestinal functions (1).

PAMPs

Cells involved in innate immunity can sense 'self' from 'non-self' by recognizing molecular features commonly present on pathogens. These features are called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs).

Key PAMPs include various microbial nucleic acids, such as DNA with unmethylated CpG motifs, double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), and 5'-triphosphate RNA. Additionally, PAMPs include lipoproteins, surface glycoproteins, and specific membrane components like peptidoglycans, lipoteichoic acid, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and glycosylphosphatidylinositol (60,61).

DAMPs

In addition to distinguishing between 'self' and 'non-self', the cells involved in innate immunity can recognize danger or damage signals that indicate tissue stress or injury. These signals are known as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). DAMPs are endogenous molecules released by damaged or stressed cells, which can initiate and sustain immune responses even in the absence of an infectious agent. They are crucial in responding to situations such as trauma, ischemia, cancer, and other forms of tissue damage.

DAMPs consist of various proteins, molecules and nucleic acids that are typically contained within cells under normal conditions. However, when these components are released due to cellular damage, they serve as danger signals, activating inflammatory and immune responses that work to restore tissue homeostasis (60–62).



Figure 6. Pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) and their ligands. Major PRR families, including Tolllike receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), Nod-like receptors (NLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), and cytosolic DNA sensors (CDSs), recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as LPS, viral RNA/DNA, and bacterial peptidoglycans, initiating innate immune responses. Damange-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), including self-DNA, mitochondrial DNA (mrDNA), ATP, and extracellular matrix components, are released during cellular stress or injury, contributing to sterile inflammation. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Pattern-Recognition Receptors

Most PAMPs and DAMPs bind to specific receptors known as pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) (Figure 6). PRRs are expressed on various cells, including macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, and epithelial cells. They are crucial components of the innate immune system, providing a rapid and effective means of identifying potential threats before the adaptive immune response is activated.

When PRRs bind to these molecular patterns, they trigger signaling cascades that initiate an immune response. This response includes the production of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators that recruit and activate additional immune cells at the site of infection or injury. The activation of PRRs is not only essential for initiating the innate immune response but also for shaping and directing the adaptive immune response that follows (60–62). An overview of different PRRs involved in innate immunity and their characteristics can be seen in table 2.

PRR	PAMP/DAMP	Type of PAMP/DAMP Recognized	Recognized Pathogen/Cellular Feature	Cellular Localization			
Toll-Like receptors (TLRs)							
TLR1	PAMP	Bacterial triacylated lipoproteins	Bacteria	Plasma membrane			
TLR2	PAMP	Bacterial lipooeotides, peptidoglycans, lipoteichoic acid	Bacteria, mycobacteria, fungi	Plasma membrane			
TLR3	PAMP	Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)	Viruses	Endosomal membrane			
TLR4	PAMP/DAMP	Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), Heat shock proteins (HSPs), HMGB1	Gram-negative bacteria, endogenous stress signals	Plasma membrane			
TLR5	PAMP	Bacterial flagellin	Bacteria	Plasma membrane			
TLR6	PAMP	Bacterial dyiacylated lipoproteins	Bacteria, mycobacteria	Plasma membrane			
TLR7	PAMP	Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)	Viruses	Endosomal membrane			
TLR8	PAMP	Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)	Viruses	Endosomal membrane			
TLR9	PAMP	Unmethylated CpG DNA	Bacteria, viruses	Endosomal membrane			
TLR10	DAMP						
C-type Lec	tin Receptors (Cl	LRs)					
Dectin-1	PAMP	β-glucans	Fungi	Plasma membrane			
Dectin-2	PAMP	High mannose structures	Fungi	Plasma membrane			
Mannose receptor	PAMP	Mannose, fructose, N- acetylglucosamine	Fungi, bacteria, viruses	Plasma membrane			
DC- SIGN	PAMP	Mannose-rich glycans	Viruses, bacteria	Plasma membrane			
Nod-Like Receptors (NLRs)							
NOD1	PAMP	Peptidoglycan	Gram-negative bacteria	Cytosol			
NOD2	PAMP	Muramyl dipeptide	Bacteria	Cytosol			
NLRP3	PAMP/DAMP	Bacterial toxins, ATP, uric acid, ROS	Bacteria, cellular stress	Cytosol			
NLRC4	PAMP	Bacterial flagellin	Bacteria	Cytosol			
AIM2	DAMP	Cytosolic double- stranded DNA (dsDNA)	Viral or bacterial DNA, self-DNA	Cytosol			

Table 2. Overview of key pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs)

A summary of key PRRs, their recognition of PAMPs or DAMPs, as well as their cellular localization and type of pathogen or cellular feature they respond to.

RIG-I-like Receptors (RLRs)					
RIG-I	PAMP	Viral dsRNA, ssRNA with 5'-triphosphate	RNA viruses	Cytosol	
MDA5	PAMP	Long viral dsRNA	RNA viruses	Cytosol	
LGP2	PAMP	Viral RNA	RNA viruses	Cytosol	
Cytosolic DNA sensors (CDSs)					
cGAS	DAMP	Cytosolic DNA	Viral or bacterial DNA, self-DNA	Cytosol	
IFI16	DAMP	Viral and host DNA	Viral DNA, self- DNA	Cytosol/Nucleus	
Receptor for Advanced Glycation End-products (RAGE)					
RAGE	DAMP	Advanced glycation products, HMGB1, S100 proteins	Cellular stress, inflammation	Plasma membrane	

Host Defense Peptides

Host defense peptides (HDPs) are small, cationic, and amphipathic molecules, typically consisting of 12-50 amino acids. These peptides, produced by all complex organisms as part of their innate immune response, have a broad range of functions, including both antimicrobial and immunomodulatory activities (63,64). Historically referred to as antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) due to their ability to directly target and kill microbes, they are now more commonly known as HDPs to reflect their broader role in host defense beyond just antimicrobial action. Many HDPs are synthesized as inactive precursors (propeptides or prepropeptides) and are stored in the granules of granulocytes. Upon secretion, these precursors are proteolytically cleaved into their active forms (63).

HDPs are classified into two major families: defensins and cathelicidins. Defensins are characterized by their beta-sheet-rich structure and the presence of disulfide bonds, which stabilize their conformation and maintain their function in challenging environments. In humans, 12 defensins have been well characterized, and can be further divided into two subtypes: α -defensins, which consists of β -strands, are predominantly found in neutrophils and Paneth cells within the gut, whereas β -defensins, which comprises both helices and β -strands in their secondary structure, are mainly expressed by epithelial cells, though also found in various leukocytes (65).

Cathelicidins are defined by their α -helical structure under physiological conditions. Unlike defensins, where multiple subtypes exist, only one single cathelicidin has been identified in humans: the human cathelicidin antimicrobial protein 18 (hCAP18). This precursor protein is cleaved extracellularly to generate the active peptide LL-37 (66,67).

LL-37

The precursor protein hCAP18 and its active form, LL-37, were independently identified by three research groups in 1995 (67–69). The name hCAP18 is derived from its structural similarity to CAP18, an 18 kDa cationic antimicrobial peptide identified in rabbits. The gene encoding hCAP18, known as *CAMP*, is located on chromosome 3 and consists of four exons. The first three exons encode the signal sequence and the cathelin domain, while the fourth exon encodes the active LL-37 peptide (70).



Figure 7. Synthesis and processing of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. The *CAMP* gene encodes the precursor prepropeptide, which consists of a signal peptide, a cathelin-like domain, and the LL-37 domain. This precursor is stored as hCAP18 within granules of immune cells. Upon cellular activation, hCAP18 is secreted via exocytosis and subsequently undergoes proteolytic cleavage, releasing the active form of LL-37. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

hCAP18 is primarily expressed by neutrophils (69,71), but it is also produced by various cell types, including epithelial cells (71,72), keratinocytes (73), and leukocytes such as monocytes (71,74), macrophages (71), mast cells (75), NK-cells

(74), T-cells (74) and B-cells (74). The conversion of hCAP18 to its active form, LL-37, occurs through extracellular cleavage by proteinase 3 (76), kallikrein 5, and kallikrein 7 (77). The expression of LL-37 can be upregulated by bacterial products, human β -defensin-2, and the vitamin D metabolite 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (66,78). LL-37 is found at varying concentrations across different cells, tissues, and body fluids, reflecting its broad functional spectrum (66,79).

Structure of LL-37

LL-37 obtains its name from its length of 37 amino acids, with the first two residues being leucine. It is a cationic peptide with a net charge of +6 at physiological pH, containing a high proportion of basic and hydrophobic amino acids. Structurally, LL-37 transitions from an unstructured monomer in pure water to an α -helical conformation under physiological conditions, such as in the presence of lipids, salt, or at a high peptide concentration (79–81). Its monomeric form features a helical region with a disordered C-terminus. LL-37 is amphipathic, with hydrophobic residues on one side and hydrophilic, mainly positively charged residues on the opposite side, this facilitates its interaction lipid membranes, particularly those of pathogens. The positively charged surface of the peptide allows it to interact with negatively charged molecules, such as bacterial cell wall components and nucleic acids. LL-37 can form dimers, trimers, and higher-order oligomers in a concentration-dependent manner, allowing it to minimize the exposure of its hydrophobic surfaces (Figure 8) (66,82).



Figure 8. Stucture of LL-37. LL-37 is an amphipathic α -helical peptide composed of 37 amino acids, within a helical structure shown on the left (PDB: 2K6O). The helical wheel diagram on the right highlights the amphipathic nature of LL-37, where positively charged residues (Lys (K), Arg (R)) are grouped on one side of the helix (red), while hydrophobic residues (yellow) are located on the opposite side. This organization is essential for its interaction with negatively charged molecules and membranes. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Antimicrobial and Antiviral Activities

LL-37 is known for its broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity, targeting Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria, biofilm (83,84), viruses (85), fungi (86), and parasites (87). Its positive charge allows it to interact with negatively charged phospholipids in the membranes of pathogens, disrupting the membrane integrity through permeabilization, which leads to microbial cell lysis (66).

Several models have been proposed to explain the mechanism by which LL-37 permeabilizes membranes. In the "carpet" model, LL-37 acts in a detergent-like manner, forming micelles that disrupts the membrane. In another model, LL-37 inserts itself transiently into the lipid bilayer, creating "toroidal pores". In the "barrel-stave" model, LL-37 aggregates into channel-like structures that insert themselves into the bacterial membrane, forming transmembrane pores (82). Beyond its membrane-disrupting activity, LL-37 can bind to and neutralize bacterial endotoxins, such as LPS, a component of Gram-negative bacterial cell walls (67). The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of LL-37 has been reported to range from 1-10 μ M against various Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (88–90).

Immunomodulatory Activity

In addition to its antimicrobial activity, LL-37 has a role in modulating immune responses (91). The peptide exhibits both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory activities depending on the surrounding microenvironment. LL-37 modulates immune responses by regulating the production of anti- and pro-inflammatory cytokines, increasing the expression of chemokines, controlling the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitrogen species (NOS), and by enhancing antigen presentation and leukocyte differentiation (79,91).

As an alarmin, LL-37 recruits and activates immune cells to sites of infection or damage (92). By interacting with the formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) receptor, it promotes the migration of neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, and T-cells, creating a positive feedback loop in which neutrophils release more LL-37 (93,94). LL-37 can also function as a pro-inflammatory factor by indirectly influencing the increased expression of cytokines such as IL-8, IL-1 β , and, type I interferons (IFNs), while downregulating IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine (95,96).

LL-37 binds to nucleic acids, such as DNA and RNA, influencing TLR signaling by transporting these nucleic acids into endosomes, where they are recognized by TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9. At the same time, LL-37 regulates TLR4 signaling by binding to LPS, preventing TNF expression and protecting the host from excessive inflammatory responses (71,96).

LL-37 can exhibit anti-inflammatory effects by inhibiting the formation of the AIM2 inflammasome and suppressing the expression of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-4 and IL-12 (79,97). In wound healing, LL-37 promotes angiogenesis, stimulates IL-18 production by keratinocytes, and induces IFN- γ secretion, facilitating tissue repair and epithelial cell migration. LL-37 also activates stromal cell-derived factor 1- α and vascular endothelial growth factor- α , aiding in epithelial regeneration (98,99).

LL-37 in Disease

LL-37 is expressed in various concentrations across tissues and body fluids. Upregulation of LL-37 is often observed in inflamed or infected tissues, and abnormal levels have been detected in several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases as shown in Figure 9 (66).

Although LL-37 preferentially binds to membranes of pathogenic microorganisms, it can also exhibit cytotoxic effects on host cells, but usually at higher concentrations due to the presence of cholesterol in the membrane (100). However, LL-37 has been reported to permeabilize cellular membranes of host cells at concentrations similar to its MIC value for bacteria. LL-37 concentrations between 13-15 μ M can induce cell death in immune cells (81), while lower concentrations (around 4 μ M) have been reported to affect other cell types, such as osteoblasts (101,102).

Skin Diseases

The skin, a critical physical barrier, produces LL-37 through keratinocytes and epithelial cells. During inflammation, leukocytes at the site can also contribute to LL-37 levels in the skin (96).

Psoriasis, an autoimmune skin disorder characterized by red, inflamed lesions, shows abnormal, very high LL-37 concentrations (>100 μ M) in the lesions (103). However, it is not clear whether the elevated levels of LL-37 promote disease progression or represent a compensatory response to reduce inflammation and tissue damage. While LL-37 can inhibit inflammasome activation and reduce IL-1 β expression (104,105), it may also promote leukocyte migration, keratinocyte proliferation, and type I IFN production, contributing to disease progression (106).

In rosacea, another chronic inflammatory skin disease, high concentrations of LL-37 and the LL-37 generating enzyme kallikrein 5 are found in lesions. In this disease the elevated LL-37 level has been implicated in contributing to the progression of rosacea (97,107,108).



Figure 9. Elevated LL-37 levels associated with various inflammatory diseases. High concentrations of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 have been implicated in several inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. In psoriasis (top left), LL-37 may trigger autoimmune responses in skin. In rheumatoid arthritis (top right), elevated LL-37 contributes to joint inflammation and tissue destruction. In periodontitis (bottom left), LL-37 is associated with inflammation and tissue degeneration around the teeth. In atherosclerosis (bottom right), LL-37 contributes to plaque formation and progression of the disease. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Bone Degeneration

Elevated levels of LL-37 have been associated rheumatoid arthritis (RA), an autoimmune connective tissue disease characterized by joint destruction and loss of function (109,110). One of the early indicators of RA is low bone mass or reduced bone mineral density (111). Studies have shown that LL-37 can induce apoptosis in osteoblast, which potentially could contribute to the bone degeneration observed in the progression of RA (101,102). In a rat model of arthritis, rCRAMP, the rodent orthologue of LL-37, was found to be upregulated in granulocytes. When the

neutrophils from this model were transferred into control rats, the recipients developed arthritis, suggesting that LL-37 may have a role in the disease progression (112).

Periodontitis, a chronic inflammatory disease affecting the tissues supporting the teeth, can lead to the destruction of the periodontal attachment and alveolar bone, potentially resulting in tooth loss (113). The disease is initiated by microbial infection and plaque formation on the tooth surface, causing inflammation of the gingiva. In severe cases, characterized by deepened gingival pockets and loss of periodontal attachment, elevated levels of LL-37 and proteinase 3 have been detected in the gingival crevicular fluid of patients with periodontitis (114). Furthermore, a correlation has been observed between deeper gingival pockets and higher concentration LL-37, indicating that the expression of LL-37 is linked to the severity of periodontal disease (115).

Vascular Inflammation

Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease in which the activation of innate immune pathways plays an important role in the disease development (33). It has been proposed that LL-37, bound to immune complexes, promotes the production of type I IFN, thereby contributing to the progression of atherosclerosis (116). Elevated levels of LL-37 have been observed in human atherosclerotic aortas, where it is closely associated with neo-intima macrophages (117,118). In a mouse model of atherosclerosis using ApoE^{-/-} mice, mCRAMP, the murine orthologue of LL-37, was found to be upregulated in neutrophils within the carotid arteries of mice fed with a high-fat diet. Interestingly, when these mice were crossed with mCRAMP^{-/-} mice, the absence of mCRAMP led to reduced plaque size and macrophage recruitment, suggesting LL-37 plays a role in recruiting immune cells to atherosclerotic plaques and modulating the local cytokine environment to promote lesion development (119).

LL-37 also impacts endothelial cells, including their activation and upregulation of intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1). This facilitates the recruitment of immune cells to the plaque (120). While this mechanism is important for processes such as the generation of new blood vessels and wound vascularization, it may contribute to pro-thrombotic events in atherosclerotic lesions. Interestingly, LL-37 has shown protective effects in-stent rethrombosis by promoting re-epithelialization, which limits the proliferation and migration of vascular SMCs in the tunica intima layer (121). These findings suggest that LL-37 has a dual role in atherosclerosis. On one hand, it promotes inflammation and plaque development, while on the other, it may facilitate and promote vascular healing.

Diseases Associated with Reduced LL-37 Production

While upregulation of LL-37 is more frequently observed in various diseases, there are some cases where decreased levels of LL-37 are found. One example is

Kostmann syndrome, a rare and severe congenital neutropenia disorder characterized by the absence of mature neutrophils and recurring severe bacterial infections from early life (122). Patients with Kostmann syndrome often suffer from periodontal disease, and due to the lack of neutrophils, LL-37 is undetectable in their saliva (123). Despite treatment with granulocyte-colony stimulating factor to stimulate neutrophil production, these neutrophils do not produce LL-37, and the patients continue to experience periodontal disease (123).

Another rare genetic disorder, Papillon-Lefèvre syndrome, is also associated with periodontal disease. This condition is characterized by a deficiency of proteinase 3, the enzyme that processes the hCAP18 precursor protein into its active form, LL-37 (124). The lack of LL-37 in these syndromes suggests that LL-37 might have different roles in periodontal disease.

Inflammation

Inflammation is a fundamental biological response to harmful stimuli. It serves as a crucial defense mechanism in which the immune system recognizes threats and initiates a cascade of reactions aimed at removing the source of harm and restoring homeostasis.

The inflammatory response is triggered when PRRs on immune and non-immune cells detect danger signals, such as PAMPs or DAMPs. Upon activation, these receptors induce the release of cytokines and chemokines, which serve as signaling molecules to recruit immune cells to the site of injury or infection. Inflammation can be initiated by infectious agents, such as pathogens, which are recognized as 'non-self' based on their PAMPs. However, inflammation can also arise from non-infectious stimuli, leading to what is termed sterile inflammation. This occurs when the immune system responds to DAMPs, endogenous signals from damaged or stressed cells, initiating a response similar to that caused by infection (125).

The primary goal of inflammation is to remove harmful stimuli, initiate tissue repair, and restore normal function (126). Without this critical response, infections would persist, wounds would remain unhealed, and overall survival would be compromised. While inflammation is essential for maintaining health, improper regulation or prolonged inflammation can have detrimental effects. If the inflammatory response is dysregulated or persists for an extended period of time, it can result in tissue damage and contribute to the development of chronic diseases.

Inflammation can be divided into two main types: acute and chronic.

Acute Inflammation

Acute inflammation is the body's immediate response to the harmful stimuli, designed to remove and eliminate the cause of injury and promote repair. This type of inflammation lasts for a short period of time, ranging from a few hours to a few days, and is characterized by the classical signs: redness, heat, swelling, pain, and loss of function. These symptoms arise due to increased blood flow, vascular permeability, and the recruitment of immune cells to the affected area (125).

The first immune cells to arrive at the site of injury or infection are typically neutrophils. These cells, together with other immune cells, work to neutralize the harmful agents and initiate the healing process. Once the threat is gone, the resolution phase begins, ending the inflammatory response, and homeostasis is restored (125).

Chronic Inflammation

Chronic inflammation occurs when the underlying cause of inflammation persists or when the immune response becomes dysregulated. Unlike acute inflammation, chronic inflammation is long-lasting, often persisting for months or even years. It is characterized by the consistent presence of leukocytes and lymphocytes, as well as ongoing tissue damage and fibrosis (125).

Over time, this persistent inflammatory state can contribute to the progression of various chronic diseases, including atherosclerosis, RA, and certain cancers. In these conditions, inflammation, which is initially protective, becomes harmful and plays a key role in driving disease progression (125).

Inflammatory Pathways

The activation of innate immune responses is orchestrated through complex signaling pathways that translate extracellular danger signals into intracellular reactions. When PRRs recognize pathogens or cellular damage through PAMPs or DAMPs, a cascade of downstream signaling events is triggered. These cascades lead to the transcriptional activation of genes encoding inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators essential for escalating an immune response. Among the most critical signaling pathways involved in this process are the NF- κ B and cGAS-STING pathways.

The NF-KB Pathway

The NF- κ B (nuclear factor kappa B) pathway plays a central role in immune regulation, inflammation, and cell survival. This pathway is a master regulator of immune responses, ensuring the rapid and coordinated expression of genes involved in inflammation and defense. NF- κ B is a family of transcription factors that translocate into the nucleus upon activation, where they initiate the transcription of various target genes involved in immune and inflammatory processes.

The NF- κ B family consists of five members: RelA (p65), RelB, c-Rel, p50 and p52 (127). These proteins typically form dimers, with RelA/p50 dimer being the most studied and widely involved in inflammatory responses. In their inactive state, NF- κ B dimers remain in the cytoplasm by inhibitory proteins known as I κ Bs (inhibitors of κ B), which bind to their nuclear localization signals. Activation of the NF- κ B pathway is regulated primarily through the I κ B kinase (IKK) complex, which consists of three subunits: IKK α , IKK β , and IKK γ . The IKK complex phosphorylates I κ B proteins, leading to their ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by the proteasome. This releases the NF- κ B dimers, allowing them to translocate to the nucleus and bind to specific DNA sequences in the promoter region of target genes (127,128).

The NF- κ B pathway can be activated by various stimuli, including PAMPs recognized by different TLRs, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and cellular stress signals. The canonical pathway is the most well-characterized form of NF- κ B activation, primarily involving the RelA/p50 dimer. In this pathway, an external stimulus activates the IKK complex, leading to the phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B α , which releases the RelA/p50 dimer, allowing it to enter the nucleus and initiate transcription of pro-inflammatory genes (Figure 10).

In addition to the canonical pathway, there is also a non-canonical NF- κ B pathway, which is activated by a smaller range of stimuli. Unlike the canonical pathway, the non-canonical pathway predominantly relies on IKK α and NF- κ B-inducing kinase (NIK). Instead of degrading I κ B, this pathway processes the p100 precursor protein into p52, which pairs with RelB to form dimers (Figure 10). This pathway primarily regulates genes involved in adaptive immunity (127).



Figure 10. The canonical and non-canonical NF- κ B pathways. There are two distinct signaling pathways of NF- κ B activation. In the canonical pathway (left), activation through receptors such as TRLs leads to the phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of I κ B by the IKK complex, allowing NF- κ B dimers, primarly composed of p50/ReIA, to translocate into the nucleus and initiate the transcription of target genes. In the non-canonical pathway (right), other receptors will activate NIK, which phosphorylates IKK α , leading to the processing of the p100/ReIB complex into the active p52/ReIB dimer. The p52/ReIB dimer then translocates to the nucleus to activate the target genes. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

The NF- κ B pathway is tightly regulated to prevent excessive or chronic inflammation, which can result in tissue damage and contribute to various diseases. One key mechanism of negative feedback is the resynthesis of I κ B α , which is one of the NF- κ B target genes. This newly synthesized I κ B α enters the nucleus, binds

to NF- κ B dimers, and shuttles it back to the cytoplasm, thereby ending the inflammatory response (127).

Despite these regulatory mechanisms, dysregulated or prolonged activation of the NF- κ B pathway is implicated in a number of chronic inflammatory conditions, including RA, inflammatory bowel disease, and atherosclerosis. Thus, the NF- κ B pathway represents a critical target for therapeutic intervention in diseases characterized by excessive inflammation.

The cGAS-STING Pathway

The cGAS-STING pathway plays a vital role in the innate immune system by detecting cytosolic DNA, a danger signal often associated with infections, particularly from viruses. Beyond recognizing pathogen-derived DNA, this pathway is also capable of sensing endogenous self-DNA released into the cytoplasm due to mitochondrial stress, DNA damage, or other cellular injuries, making it a crucial mediator of sterile inflammation. Its activation is important for initiating the production of type I IFNs and other pro-inflammatory cytokines, important for immune defense and the inflammatory response (129).

At the heart of this pathway is the cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS), a cytosolic sensor that is activated when it detects double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) in the cytoplasm. DNA in the cytoplasm is a signal of abnormality, as DNA is typically located and confined to the nucleus or mitochondria. Upon binding to dsDNA, cGAS undergoes a conformational change and catalyzes the synthesis of a cyclic dinucleotide, cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP), which acts as a secondary messenger (Figure 11) (129,130).

Stimulator or interferon genes (STING) is an adaptor protein located on the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and transmits the signal from cGAS to downstream immune responses. Once cGAMP is produced, it binds to and activates STING. This activation causes STING to translocate from the ER to the Golgi apparatus, where it recruits signal molecules, including various kinases (129,130).

The activated STING complex subsequently triggers activation of TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), which phosphorylates interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3). Phosphorylated IRF3 forms dimers and translocate to the nucleus, where it initiates the expression of type I IFN genes, driving the antiviral response. Additionally, the cGAS-STING pathway can activate the NF- κ B pathway via IKK complex (131). During its journey from the ER to the Golgi, STING recruits various signaling proteins, among them the IKK complex, leading to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Figure 11) (129,130).



Figure 11. The cGAS-STING pathway. The cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) detects cytosolic DNA from various sources, including viral DNA, self-DNA, bacterial DNA and mitochondrial DNA. Upon DNA binding, cGAS catalyzes the production of 2'3'-cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP), which acts as a secondary messenger that activates STING (stimulator of interferon genes). STING, in turn, activates downstream signaling targets such as TBK1, leading to the phosphorylation and activation of IRF3 and type I IFNs expression and NF-kB target genes. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Similar to the NF-kB pathway, the cGAS-STING pathway is tightly regulated to avoid overactivation. Dysregulation of this pathway can lead to chronic inflammation or autoimmune diseases. For instance, in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), the cGAS-STING pathway is abnormally activated as it recognizes self-DNA from damaged cells, triggering chronic inflammation. Recent studies have also linked chronic activation of the cGAS-STING pathway to atherosclerosis, where DNA from dying cells within plaques activates the pathway, contributing to ongoing inflammatory responses and disease progression (130).

Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death that occurs in a controlled and regulated manner, allowing cells to die without causing harm to surrounded tissues. The process is important in maintaining tissue homeostasis, development, and immune responses by removing damaged, infected, or unnecessary cells. Apoptosis is distinct from necrosis, another form of cell death, where cells die due to injury or disease and release harmful substances that can cause inflammation (132).

Apoptosis can be characterized by key features. Apoptotic cells undergo shrinkage and form membrane-bound vesicles called apoptotic bodies. The apoptotic cell also undergoes DNA fragmentation, where the DNA of the cell is cleaved into small fragments. Unlike necrosis, the cell membrane remains intact, preventing release of cellular contents into the extracellular environment. Apoptotic bodies are recognized and engulfed by macrophages, ensuring that no inflammatory response is triggered (132).

There are two primary pathways through which apoptosis is triggered, the intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway and the extrinsic (death receptor) pathway. Both pathways merge in activating caspases, a family of proteases that orchestrate the degradation of the cell.

The Intrinsic and Extrinsic Pathways

The intrinsic pathway is triggered by internal signals such as DNA damage, oxidative stress, or cellular stress. This pathway is regulated by the Bcl-2 family of proteins, which control the permeability of the mitochondrial membrane. The intrinsic pathway is initiated by internal stress that activates pro-apoptotic proteins like Bax and Bak. Bax and Bak form pores in the outer mitochondrial membrane, leading to the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial cytoplasm. Cytochrome c binds to apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1), forming a complex called the apoptosome. The apoptosome then recruits and activates caspase-9, which in turn activates caspase-3 and other executioner caspases, leading to the cleavage of important proteins for cell survival, such as PARP and subsequently apoptosis (Figure 12) (133).

The extrinsic pathway is initiated by extracellular signals that activate cell surface death receptors. The binding of ligands to their death receptors leads to receptor activation. The activated death receptor recruit adapter proteins like Fas-associated death domain (FADD), forming death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). DISC activates caspase-8, which in turn activates downstream executioner caspases, such as caspase-3, leading to apoptosis (Figure 12).

Prolonged or unresolved inflammation can lead to apoptosis of immune cells or other tissue cells, serving as a regulatory mechanism to limit excessive immune responses and prevent tissue damage. This process helps to terminate inflammation and promote tissue repair.

Dysregulation of apoptosis can lead to various pathological conditions. Excessive apoptosis can contribute to tissue degeneration in diseases like neurodegeneration and autoimmune diseases, and reduced apoptosis can lead to uncontrolled cell proliferation and survival, contributing to cancer and chronic inflammation (133).



Figure 12. The extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways. The extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways are the two primary pathways leading to apoptosis. The extrinsic apoptotic pathway is initiated by death receptors, which recruits FADD and pro-caspase 8, leading to the activation of caspase-8. This, in turn, activates downstream executioner caspases (caspase-3/7), leading to cell death. The intrinsic pathway, triggered by internal signals such as cellular stress, involves mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization. This releases cytochrome C, which binds to Apaf-1 and forms the apoptosome, leading to caspase-9 activation. Caspase-9 subsequently activates executioner caspases. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Caspase-Independent Apoptosis

Caspase-independent apoptosis represents an alternative form of programmed cell death that operates without the activation of caspases, the proteases commonly associated with the classical apoptotic pathways. This pathway provides an important backup mechanism for cell death, particularly in situations where the caspase-dependent pathways are inhibited or insufficient (134).



Figure 13. Caspase-independent pathway. This pathway is initiated by internal stress signals such as DNA damage or oxidative stress, leading to the activation of p53 which translocates to the nucleus and activates pro-apoptotic proteins BAX and BAK. These proteins facilitate mitochondiral membrane permeabilization, resulting in the release of mitochondrial proteins such as Endonuclease G (EndoG) and Apoptosis-Inducing Factor (AIF). Once release into the cytosol, AIF and EndoG translocate to the nucleus, where they induce chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation, promoting caspase-independent apoptosis. Illustration created in BioRender.com.

Like the intrinsic apoptotic pathway, mitochondria play a central role in caspaseindependent apoptosis. Upon receiving a death signal, specific proteins are released from the mitochondria, initiating the cell death process. One of the primary proteins involved in this pathway is apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF). Under normal conditions, AIF is located within the mitochondrial intermembrane space, but upon stress or damage, it is released into the cytoplasm and subsequently translocates to the nucleus. Once in the nucleus, AIF induces chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation, key hallmarks of apoptosis. Another important mitochondrial protein involved in this pathway is the Endonuclease G (EndoG), which is also released from the mitochondria in response to apoptotic stimuli. Like AIF, EndoG translocates to the nucleus, where it contributes to the degradation of nuclear DNA, promoting cell death in a capsase-independent manner as depicted in Figure 13 (134,135).

Necroptosis and Pyroptosis

Necroptosis is a form of caspase-independent programmed cell death that combines features of both apoptosis and necrosis (136,137). While apoptosis is a non-inflammatory, tightly regulated process, necroptosis results in cell lysis and the release of intracellular contents, triggering a strong inflammatory response, much like necrosis. However, unlike necrosis, necroptosis is a controlled process and is often considered a backup mechanism when apoptosis is inhibited.

Necroptosis is initiated by the activation of receptor-interacting protein kinases (RIPK1 and RIPK3). Typically, death receptor activation leads to apoptosis through the caspase-8-dependent extrinsic pathway. However, when caspase-8 is absent or inhibited, necroptosis is activated. In this pathway, RIPK1 interacts with RIPK3 to form a complex known as the necrosome. RIPK3 then phosphorylates mixed linage kinase domain-like protein (MLKL), which translocates to the plasma membrane, leading to membrane rupture and eventually cell death (136–138).

Unlike apoptosis, which preserves membrane integrity, necroptosis results in membrane rupture and the release of DAMPs, which further promote inflammation by activating the immune system. Necroptosis is particularly important when pathogen-infected cells or cancerous cells evade apoptosis, and in various inflammatory diseases.

Pyroptosis, on the other hand, is another form of programmed cell death closely associated with inflammatory responses. It is typically triggered by intracellular pathogens, such as bacteria and viruses, and is mediated by caspase-1 through the activation of inflammasomes that detect danger signals, including PAMPs and DAMPs (139).

Upon activation, inflammasomes cleave inactive pro-caspase-1 into its active form, caspase-1. Active caspase-1 then processes the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 into their active forms, which are released into the ECM to promote inflammation. Simultaneously, caspase-1 cleaves gasdermin D (GSDMD), creating

a pore-forming fragment that inserts into the plasma membrane. This results in membrane rupture, cell swelling, and the release of intracellular contents (140).

Unlike apoptosis, which is immunologically silent, pyroptosis is a highly inflammatory form of cell death. The release of cytokines and DAMPs during pyroptosis stimulates a strong immune response, aiding in the clearance of pathogens and damaged cells. Pyroptosis is therefore necessary for immune defense but can also contribute to excessive inflammation if not regulated (140).

The interplay between inflammation and programmed cell death is important for resolving infections and initiating tissue repair. While inflammation is essential for defense and repair, it frequently leads to cell death as a resolution mechanism to remove damaged cells and prevent excessive immune activation. Apoptosis, in particular, ensures that cell death occurs in a controlled manner without triggering further inflammation. Thus, the balance between inflammation and cell death is vital to maintaining immune homeostasis and preventing chronic inflammation or tissue damage.

Aims

The overall aim of this thesis was to explore key aspects of innate immunity in nonclassical immune cells, focusing on the role of the host defense peptide LL-37 in inducing host cell cytotoxicity, as well as the regulatory role of myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) in pro-inflammatory innate immunity pathways in smooth muscle cells (SMCs).

The specific aims of the individual studies included in this thesis were as follows:

- I. To investigate the effect of MRTFs on inflammation signaling pathways in human arterial disease.
- II. To determine whether MRTFs can downregulate the cGAS-STING pathway in SMCs.
- III. To examine the pathways involved in LL-37-induced cell death in human osteoblast-like cells.
- IV. To explore whether LL-37 induces cell death by permeabilizing the mitochondrial outer membrane.

Material and Methods

In this section, I provide an overview of the key methods and techniques used throughout this thesis. For comprehensive details, please refer to the methodology section in each respective paper.

Cell Culture (Study I-IV)

In this thesis, human cell cultures were used in all studies as a primary method for investigating cellular processes *in vitro*. Cell culture offers a controlled environment that allows precise regulation of experimental conditions, enabling reproducibility and targeted manipulation of specific variables. While cultured cells lack the complex interactions seen in tissues and *in vivo* models, this simplified system provides a cost-effective and efficient alternative for studying isolated cellular mechanisms.

Throughout this thesis, both commercially available cell lines and primary human cells were used (see table 3). Cell lines are ideal for general mechanistic studies and high-throughput experiments due to their stability and cost-effectiveness. Primary cells offer greater physiological relevance, closely mimicking *in vivo* biology, but are more technically challenging and have a limited lifespan, restricting their use to a finite number of passages. Although *in vitro* studies have their limitations, human cells are preferred over animal models for studying innate immunity, as they more accurately reflect human-specific immune responses, enhancing the relevance and translatability of finding clinical applications.

All cells were cultured in a water-jacked cell incubator at 37 $^{\circ}$ C with 5% CO₂, and seeded into culture plates the day before experiments were conducted.

Name	Origin	Туре	Culture media	Paper
hCASMCs	Coronary artery SMC	Primary	M231 + 5% SMGS	1-11
THP-1	Monocyte	Cell line	RPMI Glutamax + 10% FBS	I
hBrSMCs	Bronchial SMC	Primary	Vascular Cell Basal Medium + SMC Growth kit	II
MG63	Osteoblast-like cell	Cell line	DMEM/Ham's F12 + 10% FBS	III-VI

Table 3. Overview of cell types	used throughout the thesis.
---------------------------------	-----------------------------

Overexpression and Silencing (Study I-II)

Overexpression and gene silencing are powerful techniques for understanding gene functions. Overexpression involves introducing and elevating the expression of a gene of interest to study how increased protein levels influence cellular behavior and signaling pathways. This method provides insights into the role of the gene in physiological processes. Conversely, gene silencing, often achieved through RNA interference techniques such as short hairpin RNA (shRNA), reduces gene expression, enabling the exploration of the consequences of reduced or absent gene function. This approach is valuable for identifying the contribution of the gene to various cellular mechanisms.

In papers I-II, I have used adenoviral vectors for both overexpression and silencing. Adenoviral vectors offer several advantages over plasmid vectors, which typically require toxic reagents to increase cell membrane permeability and facilitate transfection. Adenoviral vectors enable a more efficient delivery of genetic material across a wide range of cell types, including primary cells that are generally resistant to plasmid-based transfection. Additionally, adenoviral vectors no not integrate into the host genome, and gene expression is typically achieved within 48 h, making them well-suited for transient gene expression and short-term experiments. However, despite being replication-deficient, adenoviral vectors carry a higher biosafety risk compared to plasmids. To mitigate the potential risk of host cell immune activation by the viral vector itself, we investigated the impact of null-virus transduction on pro-inflammatory target genes and found no increase in inflammatory responses in our experimental setting.

In paper I, a plasmid vector was used for overexpression in THP-1 cells. While plasmid vectors are more cost-effective and safer due to their non-viral nature, they are generally less effective compared to viral vectors and are typically most effective in cell lines compared to primary cells.

Gene Expression Analysis

Transcriptomics Analysis (Study I-II)

In papers I and II, we utilized an RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) dataset that was generated prior to my studies (43). RNA-seq is a powerful technique for analyzing the transcriptome, which represents the complete set of RNA transcripts produced by the genome under specific conditions. In this particular dataset, RNA was extracted from hCASMCs overexpressing myocardin. By comparing gene expression between myocardin-overexpressing cells and hCASMCs transduced

with control null-virus, we identified numerous potential target genes of myocardin, which require further validation using other experimental methods.

In general, RNA-seq involves several key steps. First, RNA is isolated from the cells or tissues of interest and is then converted into complementary DNA (cDNA) via reverse transcription. The cDNA is fragmented into smaller pieces, and specific adapters are ligated to both ends of these fragments, which are essential for sequencing and enable the cDNA to bind to the flow cell during the sequencing process. The sequencing itself is performed using fluorescently labeled nucleotides that are incorporated into the growing DNA strand, and the fluorescent signal from each nucleotide is captured by a camera. This process occurs in parallel with millions of fragments, generating a substantial volume of sequence data.

The sequencing output consists of short reads, typically ranging from 50-150 bp in length, which are aligned to a reference genome or transcriptome. RNA-seq enables the comparison of gene expression between different conditions, such as treated versus untreated samples, allowing for the identification of genes that are upregulated or downregulated.

RT-qPCR (Study I-II)

To investigate the expression of target genes, I extracted RNA from cell lysates and performed reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), a widely used technique that combines reverse transcription (RT) and quantitative PCR (qPCR). Initially, the purified RNA is converted into cDNA by the enzyme reverse transcriptase. The cDNA is then amplified during qPCR. For the RT-qPCR reactions in this thesis, I have used a one-step RT-qPCR method, where both RT and qPCR reactions occur within the same tube, simplifying the procedure.

During qPCR, primers specifically designed for the target gene bind to its corresponding DNA sequence, which is then amplified in cycles. SYBR Green, a fluorescent dye, binds to the amplified DNA, and fluorescence increases proportionally with the amount of DNA produced. As SYBR Green binds to any double-stranded DNA (dsDNA), it is crucial to perform melting curve analysis to verify the specificity of the qPCR product and avoid detecting non-specific products.

The number of cycles required for the fluorescence signal to reach a detectable level is referred to as the cycle threshold (Ct) value, which is used to quantify the initial amount of target gene expression. To account for sample-to-sample variations, I normalize the data to 18S ribosomal RNA (18S), a highly stable and consistently expressed housekeeping gene.

Protein Detection

Western Blotting (Study I-IV)

Western blotting is a widely used technique for detecting and analyzing specific proteins in a sample through antibody-based detection. The process begins with protein extraction using a lysis buffer containing sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), which disrupts cell membrane and releases proteins. The total protein concentration is then quantified using a Lowry-based colorimetric assay, to ensure equal loading of protein in each lane of the gel.

Proteins are separated by size using SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, where SDS denatures the proteins and gives a uniform negative charge, allowing them to migrate through the gel in response to an electric current. Smaller proteins move faster, while larger ones travel more slowly. After electrophoresis, the separated proteins are transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane through an electric field, enabling them to move out of the gel and bind to the membrane.

To minimize non-specific antibody binding, the membrane is blocked with a solution containing casein. The membrane is then incubated with a primary antibody specific to the target protein, followed by a secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP), that recognizes and binds to the primary antibody. HRP is an enzyme that generates a chemiluminescent signal upon substrate addition. This signal allows visualization and imaging of the protein bands.

The intensity of the protein bands correlates with the protein levels and can be quantified. Endogenous loading controls, such as housekeeping proteins, are crucial to ensure accurate comparisons. Western blotting provides information about the relative protein levels and can detect post-translational modifications. However, the success of the technique relies on the quality and specificity of the antibodies used.

Dot blotting (Study I, II and VI)

In papers I, II, and VI, I have performed dot blotting, a simplified immunoblotting technique used to detect proteins in a sample without the need for gel electrophoresis. In this method, small droplets of the sample are applied directly onto a nitrocellulose membrane, forming discrete dots. Once the membrane dries, the proteins are immobilized. Similar to Western blotting, the membrane is then blocked to prevent non-specific binding, followed by incubation of primary antibody specific to the target protein and a secondary antibody for detection. Dot blotting is advantageous for its speed and simplicity, as it bypasses protein separation and requires minimal sample volume. However, unlike Western blotting, dot blotting does not provide information about protein size or molecular weight,

and it can sometimes have lower specificity. Quantifying protein levels is also more challenging, making this technique better suited for qualitative or presence/absence detection.

ELISA (Study I)

In paper I, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used to quantify the levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines MCP-1 and IL-8 in hCASMCs transduced with null or myocardin-related transcription factor A (MRTF-A) viruses, under control conditions or in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment.

A sandwich ELISA was used for this purpose. This method relies on the "sandwich" formation between a capture antibody, the target antigen, and a detection antibody. First, the ELISA plate is coated with a capture antibody specific to the target antigen, which is immobilized to the well surface. A blocking buffer is applied to prevent non-specific binding. The sample is then added, allowing the target antigen to bind to the capture antibody. After washing off unbound proteins, a biotinylated detection antibody is added, which binds to a different epitope on the antigen. Streptavidin conjugated to HRP is subsequently added, binding to the biotinylated detection antibody. Following another wash step, a substrate is added, and the HRP enzyme catalyzes a color change reaction proportional to the antigen concentration. Finally, a stop solution is added to stop the reaction, turning the color to yellow, and the absorbance is measured at 450 nm.

To quantify the target proteins (MCP-1 and IL-8), a standard curve is generated using known concentrations of the proteins, allowing the absolute amount of protein in a sample to be calculated in pg/ml. ELISA is a highly sensitive technique that offers superior quantitative measurement of protein concentrations compared to the other immunoblotting methods. However, it requires high-quality, contaminant-free samples, as impurities can affect the accuracy of the results. The method also relies on the antibody quality, with potential cross-reactivity and a risk for false positives.

Immunocytochemistry (Study I, and IV)

Immunocytochemistry (ICC) is a widely used technique for detecting and visualizing specific proteins within individual cells using antibodies that specifically bind to the target protein. In my studies, cells were cultured on coverslips and treated with adenoviral vectors for overexpression (paper I) or with LL-37 and MitoTracker (paper IV) to study the effects on protein localization. After the experimental treatments, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, which preserves cellular structures and proteins in their native state.

Following fixation, the cells were permeabilized using Triton X-100 to allow the antibodies to access intracellular proteins. To minimize non-specific antibody binding, a blocking buffer containing bovine serum albumin (BSA) was applied. The cells were then incubated with a primary antibody designed to specifically bind to the protein of interest. After excessing primary antibody was washed off, the cells were incubated with a fluorescently labeled secondary antibody, which binds to the primary antibody. The fluorescent signal was then detected using a fluorescence microscope, enabling the detection of the localization and distribution of the target protein distribution within cells. By using different fluorophores, the technique can be used to detect multiple proteins simultaneously, making it ideal for colocalization studies. Much like immunoblotting, ICC relies on the quality and specific results. Fixing cells provides a static snapshot and cannot be used to study dynamic processes in live cells.

Co-Immunoprecipitation (Study I-II)

Co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) is a powerful technique used for studying proteinprotein interactions. By using antibodies to isolate a target protein from a sample, Co-IP enables the identification of proteins that interact with the target, providing insight into protein complexes and potentially revealing novel binding partners. In papers I and II, Co-IP was performed to investigate interactions between MRTF-A and key signaling proteins, including RelA in the NF- κ B pathway and TANKbinding kinase 1 (TBK1), which is involved in both NF- κ B signaling and the cGAS-STING pathway.

The process begins with an antibody, specific to the target protein, immobilized on resin in a column. In these studies, antibodies against MRTF-A were used. After overexpression of MRTF-A, cells were lysed in a buffer designed to preserve protein structure and interactions. The lysate is then applied to the column, where the antibody binds to the target protein and its interacting partners. Following several wash steps to remove non-specifically bound proteins, the target protein and associated proteins are eluted and analyzed by immunoblotting to confirm and identify co-precipitated proteins.

Co-IP is valuable for capturing protein interactions in their native cellular environment, making it highly relevant for studying physiological complexes. However, as with all antibody-based techniques, the success of Co-IP depends on the quality of the antibodies, and non-specific binding can lead to noise and falsepositive results.

Cell Cytotoxicity Assays

MTT Assay (Study III)

In paper III, the MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay was used to evaluate cell viability after treatment with different concentrations LL-37. This colorimetric assay assesses cell viability and proliferation by measuring the metabolic activity of cells, which reduces yellow MTT into purple formazan crystals. The reduction occurs in the mitochondria of viable cells, making the assay dependent on mitochondrial function.

For this experiment, cells were seeded in a 96-well plate and treated with varying concentrations of LL-37 dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), while control cells received DMSO only. After 3 h of treatment, MTT reagent was added and incubated for 1 h to allow uptake and conversion. Metabolically active cells converted the MTT dye into purple formazan crystals. Following incubation, the culture medium was removed, and the formazan crystals were solubilized using DMSO. The resulting purple color, proportional to viable cells, was measured at 540 nm. Higher absorbance values indicated greater metabolic activity.

The MTT assay provides a straightforward and quantitative measure of cell viability and is adaptable for high-throughput screening. However, since it reflects only metabolic activity, it cannot differentiate between increased cell numbers and enhanced metabolic rates. Therefore, it is important to complement these findings by counting the number of cells per well in each experiment.

LDH Assay (Study III)

In paper III, the LDH (lactate dehydrogenase) assay was performed to evaluate cell membrane integrity and assess cytotoxicity following LL-37 treatment. The LDH assay is a colorimetric method that detects LDH, an enzyme normally found in the cytoplasm. When the cell membrane is damaged, LDH is released into the surrounding medium, making it a reliable indicator for membrane disruption.

In this experiment, cells were treated with varying concentrations of LL-37 for 30 minutes. After incubation, the cell culture medium was collected, and NADH and pyruvate solutions were added. If LDH was present in the medium, it catalyzed the conversion of pyruvate to lactate, oxidizing NADH to NAD+. The absorbance of NADH at 340 nm was measured, with a decrease in absorbance indicating higher LDH levels and thus greater membrane permeabilization. Controls included a positive control, where sonication induced maximum LDH release, and a negative control (DMSO-treated cells) to measure background LDH levels.

The LDH assay is a rapid and easy method for quantitatively assessing membrane integrity. However, it detects general membrane damage and cannot differentiate between types of cell death.

Subcellular Fractionation (Study IV)

In paper IV, subcellular fractionation was performed and optimized (141) to investigate the effects of LL-37 on mitochondrial membrane integrity. This technique separates cellular components based on their size and density, allowing for the isolation of specific organelles, including nuclei, cytoplasm and mitochondria.

After treating the cells with LL-37 (using DMSO as a negative control), cells were lysed using mechanical disruption via a Dounce homogenizer to break open the cells while preserving the integrity of the organelles. The homogenization was performed on ice to prevent protein degradation. The lysate was then subjected to differential centrifugation, which separates cellular components according to their size and density. This allowed the collection of distinct fractions containing the nuclei, cytoplasm, and mitochondria. The purity of each fraction was verified via Western blot analysis using specific marker proteins for each cellular compartment. However, it is important to note that Western blot analysis only detects the target proteins being investigated, meaning there may be impurities present in the sample that go undetected.

Results and Discussion

In this section, the key findings from the included papers are summarized, and the results are briefly discussed. For more detailed information, please refer to the original publications.

Paper I

Cell Type Dependent Suppression of Inflammatory Mediators by Myocardin Related Transcription Factors

The role of myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) in smooth muscle cells (SMCs) has traditionally been linked to regulating smooth muscle differentiation, primarily through activation of contractile genes. However, recent studies suggest both anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory roles of MRTFs, particularly in vascular inflammation, though the results have been inconsistent (56,57,59,142–145). Given the reduction of MRTF levels observed in atherosclerosis (142), we hypothesized that this decrease may contribute to vascular inflammation. The objective of this study was to investigate the influence of MRTFs on inflammatory signaling pathways, findings which may have an impact on human arterial disease.

Using a previously generated RNA-seq dataset (43), we found that myocardin overexpression in human coronary artery SMCs (hCASMCs) significantly reduced several pro-inflammatory transcripts, including *CCL2*, *CXCL8*, *IL6*, and *IL1B*. This anti-inflammatory effect was validated by adenoviral overexpression of MRTF-A, MRTF-B, and myocardin in hCASMCs, all of which consistently suppressed these inflammatory mediators (Figure 14A).

To extend these findings *in situ*, we analyzed transcriptomic data from the GTExPortal (146) to assess correlations between MRTFs and inflammatory mediators in human arteries. While myocardin and MRTF-A exhibited a negative correlation with inflammatory transcripts, MRTF-B did not, suggesting potential functional divergence among MRTF family members despite their shared anti-inflammatory effects in vitro. Based on these observations, and due to limitations in myocardin antibody performance, we focused our work on MRTF-A.

We further examined the anti-inflammatory effect of MRTF-A under proinflammatory conditions by stimulating hCASMCs with lipopolysaccharides (LPS). Remarkably, MRTF-A continued to suppress inflammatory mediators even in the presence of LPS (Figure 14B), indicating that its anti-inflammatory function is preserved regardless of inflammatory activation. Additionally, silencing MRTF-A using a short hairpin construct led to increased expression of the pro-inflammatory transcripts (Figure 14C), confirming the specificity of MRTF-A's regulatory role in inflammation.

Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory effect of MRTF-A varied depending on the cell type. While MRTF-A suppressed inflammatory mediators in hCASMCs, it had the opposite effect in human bladder SMCs (Figure 14D) and had minimal to no effect in endothelial cells or monocytes. This suggests that the function of MRTF-A may be context-dependent, influenced by cell type and perhaps by specific phenotypic state of SMCs. Previous studies have reported that SMCs in culture often transition to a synthetic phenotype, which has lower MRTF expression compared to SMCs *in situ* (35). The phenotypic state of SMCs can be influenced by the stiffness of the culture well, with plastic surfaces promoting the synthetic phenotype. This makes plastic a more relevant model for studying atherosclerosis. In our experiments, overexpression of MRTFs in hCASMCs cultured on plastic consistently led to a reduction in inflammation, though this effect may vary depending on the specific culture conditions and the phenotypic state of the cells.

Mechanistically, we explored the interaction between MRTF-A with the NF- κ B signaling pathway, previously reported in pulmonary artery SMCs (56). Coimmunoprecipitation (co-IP) experiments revealed that MRTF-A interacts with both RelA (canonical NF- κ B pathway, Figure 10) and RelB (non-canonical pathway, Figure 10), suggesting that MRTF-A may inhibit NF- κ B signaling by sequestering these transcription factors and preventing their pro-inflammatory activity (Figure 14E). We hypothesized that MRTF-A could interact with either SRF, its canonical binding partner, or one of the Rel proteins (Figure 14F). While silencing RelA attenuated the anti-inflammatory effects of MRTF-A, it did not fully reverse them, indicating that additional mechanisms are likely involved (Figure 14G). When SRF was silenced, only *IL1B* and *CXCL8* transcripts were increased (Figure 14H). Interestingly, neutralization of *IL1B* has been found to reduce cardiovascular mortality in clinical trials (147).

Overall, our findings indicate that MRTFs, particularly MRTF-A, have broad antiinflammatory effects in vascular SMCs mediated, at least in part, by interactions with the Rel proteins of the NF- κ B pathway, though other pathways are likely involved. In vascular inflammatory diseases, SMCs likely contribute by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that recruit immune cells to resolve inflammation, rather than functioning directly as immune cells themselves. These results highlight the potential of MRTFs as therapeutic targets in inflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis.



Figure 14. Anti-inflammatory effects of MRTFs in hCASMCs. (A) Overexpression of myocardin, MRTF-A and MRTF-B in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells (hCASMCs) significantly recuded pro-inflammatory mediators, such as *CCL2*, *CXCL8*, *IL6* and *IL1B*. (B) MRTF-A's anti-inflammatory effect persisted even in the presence of LPS, indicating its sustained role under pro-inflammatory conditions. (C) MRTF-A silencing increased the expression of these pro-inflammatory transcripts, highlighting its regulatory role in suppressing inflammation. (D) MRTF-A's effects were cell type-specific, as it suppressed inflammatory mediators in hCASMCs but increased them in human bladder SMCs (hBSMCs). (E) Co-immunoprecipitation experiments showed interactions between MRTF-A and ReIA, suggesting that MRTF-A might inhibit NF-kB signaling by sequestering ReIA. (F) It was hypothesized that MRTF-A might interact with either SRF or ReIA. (G) Silencing of ReIA attenuated, but did not fully reverse the anti-inflammatory effect of MRTF-A, implying the involvement of additional mechanisms. (H) Silencing of SRF selectively increased *IL1B* and *CXCL8* transcripts, suggesting that SRF is involved in the regulation, while other transcripts like *CCL2* and *IL6* is regulated independently of SRF.
Paper II

Suppression of Smooth Muscle Cell Inflammation by Myocardin-Related Transcription Factors Involves Interaction of TANK-Binding Kinase 1

In paper II, we built upon the findings from paper I, where MRTFs were shown to have anti-inflammatory effects, partly by inhibiting RelA in the NF- κ B pathway. In paper II, we aimed to further investigate the mechanisms underlying these anti-inflammatory properties. We hypothesized that MRTFs could suppress inflammation by modulating the cGAS-STING pathway, known for its activation through the TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1). TBK1 activation leads to the expression of type I interferons (IFNs) via interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3), and it also plays a role in the activation of the NF- κ B pathway.

To explore this, we conducted experiments on hCASMCs and human bronchial SMCs (hBrSMCs), given the high expression of STING in both the vascular and pulmonary systems. The connection to the STING-associated vasculopathy of infancy (SAVI), a rare autoimmune disease marked by vascular and pulmonary symptoms (148), further reinforced the relevance of this pathway in our study.

Using an RNA-seq dataset of myocardin-overexpressing hCASMCs, we identified a reduction in 56 cGAS-STING target genes, suggesting that myocardin overexpression inhibits cGAS-STING signaling (Figure 15A). Correlation analysis using arterial tissues from the GTExPortal (146) confirmed that *MYOCD*, *MRTFA*, and *SRF* negatively regulate cGAS-STING target genes (Figure 15B), while *MRTFB* showed no such effect (Figure 15B).

In hBrSMCs, overexpression of MRTF-A resulted in a significant reduction of proinflammatory cGAS-STING target genes (Figure 15C). The suppression of key inflammatory mediators, *CCL2* and *CXCL8*, occurred in both a time- and dosedependent manner (Figure 15D). These findings were further validated in both hBrSMCs and hCASMCs through western blot analysis, which demonstrated that MRTF-A reduced TBK1 phosphorylation, a key enzyme in the cGAS-STING pathway (Figure 15E). Pharmacological inhibition of TBK1 using amlexanox reversed the anti-inflammatory effects of MRTF-A (Figure 15F), whereas STING inhibition (H-151) had little to no effect. This pointed to TBK1 as the specific target of MRTF-A.

Further mechanistic insight was provided by co-IP and proximity ligation assays (PLA) (Figure 15G-H), which revealed that MRTF-A binds to TBK1 in SMCs. The co-IP data showed interactions between MRTF-A and total TBK1 and phospho-TBK1 (Figure 15G), while the PLA data indicated enhanced MRTF-A and total TBK1 interactions after overexpression, both in the cytoplasm and nucleus (Figure 15H, top). Interestingly, the interactions between MRTF-A and phospho-TBK1 was not significantly altered upon overexpression (Figure 15H, bottom), which may

reflect weaker binding affinity or reduced levels of phospho-TBK1 in MRTF-A-overexpressing cells.

TBK1 is a key enzyme in many inflammatory pathways, including those mediated by type I IFNs and NF- κ B. MRTF-A's specific inhibition of TBK1, independent of upstream STING activation, raises new questions about whether MRTF-A (and potentially myocardin) could modulate other TBK1-dependent signaling pathways. Given the involvement of TBK1 in inflammatory diseases, the ability of MRTF-A to suppress TBK1 activity presents intriguing therapeutic possibilities. Further studies could explore MRTF modulation as a strategy to mitigate atherosclerosis or other TBK1-associated conditions, particularly those where dysregulated inflammatory response plays a critical role.

The findings in paper II demonstrate that the anti-inflammatory effects of MRTF-A may involve binding and inhibition of TBK1, a key enzyme for many proinflammatory pathways such as the cGAS-STING pathway, and the NF- κ B pathway. This study adds to the understanding of how MRTFs regulate inflammation in SMCs and identifies a novel mechanism by which MRTFs could protect the vascular wall from inflammation.



Figure 15. MRTF-A inhibits TBK1 activation in human smooth muscle cells. (A) RNA-seq data from hCASMCs overexpressing myocardin showed a significant reduction in 56 cGAS-STING target genes, suggesting a regulatory role of myocardin in cGAS-STING signaling. **(B)** Correlation analysis GTExPortal confirmed that *MYOCD*, *MRTFA* and *SRF* negatively correlated with cGAS-STING taget genes, while *MRTFB* did not. **(C)** In hBrSMCs, MRTF-A overexpressing significantly reduced pro-inflammatory cGAS-STING target genes. **(D)** This suppression of *CCL2* and *CXCL8* was time- and dose-dependent. **(E)** Western blot analysis showed that MRTF-A reduced TBK1 phosphorylation (p-TBK1), indicating reduced activation. **(F)** TBK1 inhibition by amlexanox reversed MRTF-A's anti-inflammatory effects. **(G)** Co-immunoprecipitation revealed MRTF-A binding to both total and p-TBK1. **(H)** Proximity ligations assays showed increased interactions between MRTF-A and total TBK1, but not p-TBK1, suggesting that MRTF-A may primarily target TBK1, or reduced levels of phospho-TBK1 after MRTF-A overexpression.

Paper III

LL-37-Induced Caspase-Independent Apoptosis Is Associated with Plasma Membrane Permeabilization in Human Osteoblast-Like Cells

In this study, we investigated the pro-apoptotic effects of the human host defense peptide LL-37 on human MG63 osteoblast-like cells. High concentrations of LL-37 (4-10 μ M) reduced cell viability and number in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 16A-B). Morphological changes, such as membrane blebbing and cell shrinkage, which are hallmarks of apoptosis, were evident following treatment with 10 μ M LL-37 for 24 h (Figure 16A). However, lower concentrations (1 μ M), did not impact cell viability or number (Figure 16B).

To assess whether LL-37-induced cytotoxicity was associated with apoptosis, we conducted TUNEL staining and Annexin V flow cytometry (Figure 16C-D). LL-37 (4 μ M) increased the population of early apoptotic cells, indicated by Annexin V positive cells (Figure 16D), and caused DNA fragmentation observed by positive TUNEL staining (Figure 16C). These results indicated apoptotic cell death. However, LL-37 did not trigger cleavage of caspase-3 or PARP, two key markers of classical caspase-dependent apoptosis (Figure 16E). This indicates that LL-37-induced apoptosis in MG63 cells follows a caspase-independent mechanism.

Further investigation suggested that the effects of LL-37 might be linked to plasma membrane permeabilization. Both LL-37 and the detergent Triton X-100 significantly decreased cell viability and increased LDH release, a marker of membrane damage (Figure 16F). LL-37 is thought to permeabilize membranes by forming pores. At higher concentrations, once it reaches a critical concentration at the membrane surface, LL-37 acts like a detergent. In this study, LL-37 permeabilized the membrane at 4 μ M, whereas Triton X-100 required substantially higher concentrations (130-180 μ M), suggesting different mechanisms of membrane permeabilization. Like LL-37, Triton X-100 induced DNA fragmentation (Figure 16G) and an increase in Annexin V positive cells. Despite inducing membrane permeabilization and apoptosis, neither LL-37 nor Triton X-100 triggered the cleavage of PARP (Figure 16H), confirming that both agents promote caspase-independent apoptosis.

One notable consequence of plasma membrane permeabilization is the potential leakage of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from cells. DAMPs could further amplify the inflammatory response by activating innate immune receptors such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and the inflammasome. Released DAMPs can also induce other programmed cell deaths, raising the possibility that LL-37 might induce necroptosis or pyroptosis. Both necroptosis and pyroptosis are characterized by plasma membrane rupture and the release of inflammatory mediators, which may contribute to a broader inflammatory environment.

It would be interesting for future studies to explore whether LL-37 triggers necroptosis or pyroptosis alongside with apoptosis and how these pathways might interact in tissues experiencing chronic inflammation. This could deepen our understanding of how LL-37 contributes to inflammatory diseases and its potential role for therapeutic intervention.

LL-37-induced cytotoxicity in host cells may have a functional role. It has been proposed that damaged or infected cells are more susceptible to LL-37-induced cytotoxic effects (149,150). This mechanism could serve as a way for the innate immune system to resolve inflammation by clearing damaged cells that would otherwise contribute to prolonged inflammation.

These findings suggest that LL-37 induces apoptosis in MG63 cells through a caspase-independent pathway, primarily associated with plasma membrane permeabilization. This mechanism could play a role in tissue damage seen in inflammatory conditions, such as periodontitis, where high local concentrations of LL-37 have been observed.



Figure 16. LL-37 induces caspase-independent apoptosis associated with membrane permeabilization. (A) LL-37 treatment reduces the number of MG63 cells in a concentration-dependent manner. Morphological changes characterized by apoptosis, such as membrane blebbing and cell shrinkage, are observed following treatment with 10 μ M LL-37. (B) High concentration of LL-37 significantly reduces cell viability, while low concentration (1 μ M) do not impact cell viability or cell number. (C) Positive TUNEL staining indicates that LL-37 induces DNA fragmentation, a hallmark of apoptosis. (D) Annexin V flow cytometry confirms that LL-37 increases the population of early apoptotic cells. (E) LL-37 treatment does not trigger PARP or caspase-3 cleavage, suggesting apoptosis occurs through a caspase-independent pathway. (F) Both LL-37 and Triton X-100 decrease cell viability and increase LDH release, with LL-37 permeabilizing the membrane at a lower concentration than Triton X-100. (G) Triton X-100 also induces DNA fragmentation, similar to LL-37, as shown by positive TUNEL staining. (H) Neither LL-37 nor Triton X-100 induce PARP cleavage, confirming that both promote caspase independent apoptosis, which may be linked to membrane permeabilization.

Paper VI

The Antimicrobial Peptide LL-37 Triggers Release of Apoptosis-Inducing Factor and Shows Direct Effects on Mitochondria

In paper VI, we further explored the mechanisms behind LL-37-induced apoptosis, building on the caspase-independent pathway studied in paper III. Specifically, we aimed to investigate the direct interactions of LL-37 with mitochondrial membranes, which had not been extensively studied.

We first examined the uptake and intracellular distribution of LL-37 in MG63 cells using immunocytochemical analysis. Following treatment with LL-37 (4 μ M) for 60 minutes, cytoplasmic immunoreactivity was observed, indicating rapid internalization of the peptide. LL-37 primarily accumulated in the perinuclear region of the cytoplasm, co-localizing with mitochondria, as indicated by MitoTracker staining (Figure 17A). Notably, this mitochondrial localization was observed as early as 20 minutes after LL-37 exposure, highlighting the peptide's rapid interaction with mitochondrial structures.

To assess whether LL-37 permeabilizes mitochondrial membranes and facilitates the release of mitochondrial proteins, we performed subcellular fractionation and Western blot analysis. Treatment with LL-37 (8 μ M for 2 h) induced the release of apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) into the cytosol, while cytochrome C oxidase subunit IV (COX IV), a marker of the inner mitochondrial membrane, remained unaffected (Figure 17B). This suggests that LL-37 selectively permeabilizes the outer mitochondrial membrane, allowing AIF release while preserving inner membrane integrity.

Further experiments using isolated mitochondria demonstrated that LL-37 increases the release of both AIF and cytochrome C, as shown by dot blot analysis (Figure 17C). LL-37-treated mitochondria released 50% more AIF and three times more cytochrome C compared to controls, providing direct evidence of the permeabilizing effects of LL-37 on mitochondrial membranes.

To further examine the underlying mechanism, we investigated whether LL-37 directly interacts with lipid membranes similar to those of mitochondria. Using model lipid vesicles (both giant and small unilamellar vesicles), we demonstrated that LL-37 induces membrane permeabilization in a concentration-dependent manner, leading to the release of encapsulated dye from the vesicles. When vesicles were prepared with the dye on the outside, LL-37 facilitated its leakage into the vesicle interior, indicating a loss of membrane integrity (Figure 17D). At higher concentrations, LL-37 caused complete vesicle rupture, reinforcing its potent membrane-disrupting capacity.

An interesting point to raise is the fact that mitochondrial membranes share similarities with bacterial membranes, particularly in the presence of the lipid

cardiolipin, which is unique to these membranes. The endosymbiotic theory suggests that mitochondria originated from an ancestral bacterium that was engulfed by a eukaryotic cell, becoming an integral part of the cell structure. Given that LL-37 is an antimicrobial peptide, that targets bacterial membranes, it is tempting to speculate that this evolutionary connection could explain its affinity for mitochondrial membranes. LL-37 may recognize mitochondrial membranes as resembling bacterial membranes, thereby triggering permeabilization and apoptosis in a caspase-independent manner. Additionally, it would be interesting to explore whether mitochondrial membrane disruption by LL-37 could also release DAMPs, potentially activating other signaling pathways.

However, in our study, experiments with membrane vesicles revealed that LL-37 permeabilized all vesicles, regardless of their lipid composition, suggesting that hydrophobic properties may have a more critical role than the specific charge of lipid components. It is important to note that these experiments provide an all-or-nothing result. Further investigation into the extent to which LL-37 permeabilizes different cellular membranes would be valuable for a deeper understanding of its effects.

Overall, these findings show that LL-37 rapidly accumulates in mitochondria, permeabilizes mitochondrial membranes, and triggers the release of pro-apoptotic factors such as AIF and cytochrome C. This suggests that LL-37 induces apoptosis through direct effects on mitochondria, contributing to its cytotoxic properties, particularly in inflammatory diseases where LL-37 levels are elevated.



Figure 17. LL-37 induces mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and release of apoptosis inducing factor (AIF). (A) Immunocytochemical analysis showing rapid internalization of LL-37 in MG63 cells. LL-37 co-localizes with MitoTracker in the perinuclear region, indicating mitochondrial accumulation. **(B)** Western blot analysis of subcellular fractions showing that LL-37 treatment leads to the release of AIF into the cytosol, suggesting outer mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. No release of cytochrome C oxidase subunit IV (COX IV), a marker of inner mitochondrial membrane integrity, was observed, indicating preserved inner membrane integrity. **(C)** Dot blot analysis of isolated mitochondrial membrane permeabilization by LL-37. **(D)** Model lipid vesicle experiments demonstrate that LL-37 permeabilizes membranes in a concentration-dependent manner, leading to the leakage of dye across the lipid vesicles.

Concluding Remarks

Innate immunity encompasses a wide range of cellular responses and activates various inflammatory pathways. Many inflammatory and autoimmune diseases stem from uncontrolled and persistent sterile inflammation. Gaining a deeper understanding of the triggers behind sterile inflammation and the mechanisms that regulate these inflammatory pathways is critical for identifying novel approaches to modulate the immune response and promote tissue regeneration. The findings presented in papers I-VI underscore the significant roles that myocardin-related transcription factors (MRTFs) and LL-37 play in innate immune response of non-classical immune cells. By elucidating their functions, these studies contribute to the broader understanding of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases and may pave the way for novel therapeutic targets.

Key conclusions from this thesis include:

- MRTFs demonstrate a cell type-specific anti-inflammatory effect in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells (hCASMCs) through interaction with RelA and inhibition of NF-κB signaling.
- LL-37 induces cell death via a caspase-independent apoptotic pathway, which is associated with plasma membrane permeabilization in host cells.
- LL-37 permeabilizes mitochondrial membranes, triggering the release of pro-apoptotic factors such as apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) and cytochrome C, which in turn induces apoptosis in host cells.

Future Perspectives

Sterile inflammation is commonly associated with chronic inflammation and autoimmune diseases. Understanding the mechanisms behind this type of inflammation and identifying new therapeutic targets holds great promise for the future. Based on the findings from this thesis, several potential angles for future research have emerged.

One promising direction is the development of MRTF-based therapies aimed at preventing the transition of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) to the synthetic state, thereby maintaining vascular integrity and potentially preventing diseases like atherosclerosis. MRTF levels drop with age, and age is a risk factor of many vascular diseases. By targeting MRTFs, we could modulate the balance between synthetic and contractile phenotypes in vascular diseases. As shown in the thesis, MRTFs regulate not only the phenotype of SMCs but also their inflammatory responses. This suggests that MRTF modulation could be explored as a therapeutic strategy, not only to maintain vascular health, but also to reduce inflammation.

Additionally, the binding of MRTFs to TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), as demonstrated in the thesis, highlights another future research topic. It remains to be explored whether MRTFs interact with TBK1 or other key signaling molecules in different tissues and cell types, expanding the therapeutic potential of MRTF modulation beyond the vascular system. MRTF-A and MRTF-B is expressed by many different cell types in different tissues, exploring their regulatory role beyond contractility is of interest. TBK1 is involved in multiple inflammatory pathways, understanding how MRTFs regulate TBK1 activity in different context could reveal new pathways for controlling inflammation in diverse diseases.

The host defense peptide LL-37 has shown dual roles depending on the concentration and cellular environment. While high concentrations of LL-37 induce apoptosis of host cells, lower concentrations have been shown to promote wound healing and the resolution of inflammation. Future studies could focus on dose-dependent therapies using LL-37 or its derivatives, harnessing its pro-healing properties while minimizing its cytotoxic effects.

Exploring non-apoptotic cell death pathways, such as necroptosis and pyroptosis, also presents an interesting future research direction. While LL-37 induces caspase-independent apoptosis by permeabilizing the cellular membrane, it could potentially

also trigger other forms of cell death, such as necroptosis and pyroptosis, which are known to play roles in sterile inflammation.

Furthermore, chronic inflammation caused by DAMPs becomes increasingly prevalent with age as the body's autophagy systems decline. The aging process is accompanied by an increase in sterile inflammation across various organs and tissues. For example, neuroinflammation is believed to play a key role in the progress of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease. Identifying inflammatory pathways involved in sterile inflammation and developing targeted therapies could hold the key to treating these age-related inflammatory diseases. Current anti-inflammatory drugs, such as the glucocorticoids, for example dexamethasone, often have broad effects and significant side effects, as they target pathways like NF- κ B at an upstream level. Therefore, a more focused approach targeting specific inflammatory pathways may yield more effective treatments with fewer side effects.

Lastly, the complex interactions between various inflammatory pathways suggest that future research should aim to map out the connections between these pathways more comprehensively. Many inflammatory pathways are interconnected in highly complex systems and understanding how they influence each other could lead to the identification of more disease-specific therapeutic targets. This would allow for the development of drugs that more precisely inhibit the inflammatory pathways implicated in specific diseases, potentially modernizing the treatment of chronic inflammatory conditions.

By addressing these points, future research has the potential to pave the way for novel, more effective therapies that can better manage sterile inflammation and its consequences in various diseases.

Acknowledgements

The projects of this thesis would not have been possible and my time as a PhD student would not have been the same, without the support of colleagues, friends and family. For that I am grateful and would like to express my warmest gratitude in particular to the people mentioned below.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main supervisor **Bengt-Olof Nilsson**. I could not have asked for a more enthusiastic and supportive supervisor. Thank you for believing in me and for always having your door open when I have questions or want to discuss ideas. When I started as a master student in your lab, little did I know about the PhD journey I was about to take on. During my four years of studies, I have become a more confident and independent researcher thanks to you, and I cannot thank you enough for your guidance during this journey. You have always been a very present supervisor, waiting with excitement for the results and the following discussion, which I am truly grateful for. You have taught me that patience and a positive attitude are key traits for success, both in academia and in life in general. I am very grateful for your mentorship and the opportunity to pursue my PhD studies in your group.

Next, I would like to thank my co-supervisor **Karl Swärd**. Even though you are not my main supervisor on the paper, you have been like a second main supervisor to me during my four years of studies. Thank you for being the force forward. You have taught me to think big, novel, and dare to aim at the more challenging research questions. You always have great ideas and are the force that pushes the boundaries of the research questions. I am so grateful for your support during these years.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor, **Catarina Rippe**. I cannot imagine what my time in the lab would have been like without you. Thank you so much for always being available for discussing research related questions as well as giving personal advice and believing in me. Thank you for being the person who lights up the room and makes the work environment wonderful. I would also like to thank you for being one of the few people that believed in me during Vasaloppet and for dragging me out on roller skis to prepare me for the race.

Katarzyna Kawka, you have been the best officemate one could ask for during these years. Thank you for always supporting and believing in me. You are the glue that holds everything together in this larger research group. Thank you for your personal advice and general discussions about life. We have been laughing, crying,

and probably been talking way too loudly for all the people on the floor to hear, and I do not know what my PhD journey would have been without you.

Next, I would like to thank **Sara Bodahl** and **Alexandra Aidoukovitch**. You two have been my best friends in the lab during my PhD journey. Thank you for welcoming me into the group, for supervising me and showing me around in the beginning. Thank you for all the nice lunches in the sun and for all the fun times we have shared.

Li Liu, I remember when you started your PhD studies when I was still a master student in the group, and we have since then shared much of this journey together. Thank you for great collaboration on projects and for being a good friend and colleague.

Olivia Ritzwall Losand, thank you for being so positive and kind. You are a breath of fresh air in this work environment!

Thank you to the rest of my colleagues in the larger Vascular Physiology group. Sebastian Albinsson and Johan Holmberg, thank you for sharing your scientific thoughts and valuable advice. And sorry for disturbing you with my loud conversations with Katarzyna. Thank you to all present and former group members that have been part of my PhD journey, Per Hellstrand, Katarzyna Krawczyk, Azra Alajbegovic, Fatima Daoud, Marycarmen Arévalo Martinez, and Francesco de Luca. Thank you for all the interesting conversations and scientific discussions over the years, as well as the social gatherings, lunches, fika breaks, parties, and much more. You have all contributed to making this a fantastic place to work.

I would also like to express my gratitude to the collaborators contributing to the hard work behind every published study. Thank you, **Daniel Svensson**, for sharing your knowledge and being helpful during the projects. **Olof Gidlöf**, for helping with the flowcytometry experiments. **Emma Sparr**, **Martin Lundqvist**, and **Xiaoyan Liu**, for providing expertise in the biophysical experiments as well as teaching and showing me how the experiments were performed. Thank you **Björn Morén** and **Karin Stenkula** for imaging experiments. Thank you, **Thomas Jepps** for letting me visit your lab and **Jennifer van der Horst** for teaching me how to perform PLA.

I would like to thank all the colleagues at D12 for contributing to a nice working place and a good work environment.

Katarzyna Said Hilmersson and Monika Bauden, thank you both for always being so inclusive and for all the nice lunches and fika breaks we have shared.

Thank you to **Anja Meissner** and your group members for great discussions during our shared group meetings. Especially thanks to **Lotte Vanherle** for always coming with great advice and questions during the meetings. Thank you, **Frank Matthes**, **Lisa Teresa Porschen**, and **Sevilay Şahoğlu Göktaş**. Thank you, Lena Uller and group members for interesting discussions and fun times. Thank you, Samuel Cerps, for all your help with ELISAs and interesting discussions over the years. Sangeetha Ramu, thank you for being so helpful and kind. Thank you Sofia Malm Tillgren and Mandy Menzel for making the work environment a great place.

And a huge thanks to all the other present and former colleagues contributing to making D12 the best place to work, Jonas, Daisy, Premkumar, Renan, Julia M, Hodan, Björn, Kreema, Selvi, Siv, Mario, Neha, Fredrik, Joanna, Julia T, Cecilia, Frida, Sofia M, Ellen, Nicole, Carin, and Martin. Thank you all for the Christmas parties, Friday breakfasts, and lunch times.

Especially thanks to the members of the Running Club at the floor, **Catarina**, **Katarzyna**, **Li**, **Lotte**, **Mario**, **Frida**, and **Sofia M**. For helping me stay healthy and sane during the covid pandemic.

I also would like to thank my friends outside of work, thank you to my best girls **Emelie**, **Alisha**, **Frida**, and **Ilona** (and of course your partners **Tim**, **Mattis**, **Erik**, and **Johan**). Thank you for always believing in me and for your encless support. This journey would not have been the same without your encouragement along the way! Thank you all, for the laughs, fun events, dinners, parties, kräftskivor, surströmmingsskivor, escape rooms, and crazy nights. You are the best!

Thank you to my family for their endless support and love. **Mom** and **Dad**, thank you for always believing in me, and for supporting my career choices. You two are my true role models. Even though you probably never expected me to pursue an academic career, you have taken an interest in my research by asking questions and being curious. Thank you for encouraging me to become the best version of myself. Thank you to my younger sister, **Evelyn**. I am so proud of being your sister and your support throughout life has made me the person I am today.

Lastly, I would like to thank my one true love and partner in crime, **Emil Axell**. Thank you for listening to my complaints, ideas and thoughts. Thank you for being my sparring partner and my rock in all situations. We have shared the PhD journey together, all the ups and downs, and I am so grateful for making this journey with you. Thank you for dragging me along on your crazy ideas and travels. Sometimes you give me an ulcer, by being the most spontaneous and crazy person. But you are my person, and I am so glad you want me to come along. With this I would also like to thank your mother, **Pia**, for being a strong and independent woman, a role model and a supportive person during the years I have known you. And finally, your colleagues at KC for always being friendly and inviting me to beer club and barbeque nights after work!

This thesis would not have been possible without you all, so once again thank you!

References

- Widmaier EP, Raff H, Strang KT. The Immune System. In: Vander's Human Physiology: The Mechanisms of Body Function. 13th (Int'l Ed). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education; 2014. p. 652–84.
- Parkin J, Cohen B. An overview of the immune system. Lancet. 2001 Jun;357(9279): 1777–89. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04904-7. PMID: 11403834.
- Yatim KM, Lakkis FG. A brief journey through the immune system. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015 Jul;10(7):1274–81. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10031014. Epub 2015 Apr 6. PMID: 25845377.
- 4. Botelho R. Phagocytosis and Phagosomes. 2nd. New York, NY: Springer Nature; 2023.
- Feehan KT, Gilroy DW. Is Resolution the End of Inflammation? Trends Mol Med. 2019 Mar;25(3):198–214. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2019.01.006. PMID: 30795972.
- 6. Hughes CE, Nibbs RJB. A guide to chemokines and their receptors. FEBS J. 2018 Aug;285(16):2944–71. doi: 10.1111/febs.14466. PMID: 29637711.
- Rodríguez-Nuevo A, Zorzano A. The sensing of mitochondrial DAMPs by non-immune cells. Cell Stress. 2019 May;3(6):195–207. doi: 10.15698/cst2019.06.190. PMID: 31225514.
- Hamada A, Torre C, Drancourt M, Ghigo E. Trained Immunity Carried by Non-immune Cells. Front Microbiol. 2019 Jan;9:3225. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03225. PMID: 30692968.
- Coppé JP, Desprez PY, Krtolica A, Campisi J. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. Annu Rev Pathol. 2010;5:99–118. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-121808-102144. PMID: 20078217.
- Dou Z, Ghosh K, Vizioli MG, Zhu J, Sen P, Wangensteen KJ, Simithy J, Lan Y, Lin Y, Zhou Z, et al. Cytoplasmic chromatin triggers inflammation in senescence and cancer. Nature. 2017 Oct;550(7676):402-406. doi: 10.1038/nature24050. PMID: 28976970.
- Schmitz CRR, Maurmann RM, Guma FTCR, Bauer ME, Barbé-Tuana FM. cGAS-STING pathway as a potential trigger of immunosenescence and inflammaging. Front Immunol. 2023 Feb;14:1132653. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1132653. PMID: 36926349.

- Jung YD, Ahmad SA, Liu W, Reinmuth N, Parikh A, Stoeltzing O, O, Fan F, Ellis LM. The role of the microenvironment and intercellular cross-talk in tumor angiogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. 2002 Apr;12(2):105–12. doi: 10.1006/scbi.2001.0418. PMID: 12027582.
- Bautista-Hernández LA, Gómez-Olivares JL, Buentello-Volante B, Bautistade Lucio VM. Fibroblasts: The Unknown Sentinels Eliciting Immune Responses Against Microorganisms. Eur J Microbiol Immunol (Bp). 2017 Aug;7(3):151–7. doi: 10.1556/1886.2017.00009. PMID: 29034104.
- Schaefer TM, Desouza K, Fahey J V, Beagley KW, Wira CR. Toll-like receptor (TLR) expression and TLR-mediated cytokine/chemokine production by human uterine epithelial cells. Immunology. 2004 Jul;112(3):428-36. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01898.x. PMID: 15196211.
- Springer TA. Traffic signals on endothelium for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:827-72. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.57.030195.004143. PMID: 7778885.
- Ross R. Cell biology of atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:791-804. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.57.030195.004043. PMID: 7778883.
- Libby P, Ordovas JM, Birinyi LK, Auger KR, Dinarello CA. Inducible interleukin-1 gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest. 1986 Dec;78(6):1432-8. doi: 10.1172/JCI112732. PMID: 3491091.
- Xia YC, Redhu NS, Moir LM, Koziol-White C, Ammit AJ, Al-Alwan L, Camoretti-Mercado B, Clifford RL. Pro-inflammatory and immunomodulatory functions of airway smooth muscle: emerging concepts. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2013 Feb;26(1):64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2012.05.006. PMID: 22634303.
- 19. Widmaier EP, Raff H, Strang KT. Muscle. In: Vander's Human Physiology: The Mechanism of Body Function. 13th (Int'l Ed). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education; 2014. p. 286–92.
- 20. Webb RC. Smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Adv Physiol Educ. 2003 Dec;27(1-4):201-6. doi: 10.1152/advan.00025.2003. PMID: 14627618.
- Allahverdian S, Chaabane C, Boukais K, Francis GA, Bochaton-Piallat ML. Smooth muscle cell fate and plasticity in atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res. 2018 Mar;114(4):540-550. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy022. Erratum in: Cardiovasc Res. 2018 Dec 1;114(14):1908. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy096. PMID: 29385543.
- Mack CP, Owens GK. Regulation of smooth muscle alpha-actin expression in vivo is dependent on CArG elements within the 5' and first intron promoter regions. Circ Res. 1999 Apr;84(7):852-61. doi: 10.1161/01.res.84.7.852. PMID: 10205154.
- Gomez D, Owens GK. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res. 2012 Jul;95(2):156-64. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs115. PMID: 22406749.

- Perry RL, Rudnicki MA. Molecular mechanisms regulating myogenic determination and differentiation. Front Biosci. 2000 Sep;5:D750-67. doi: 10.2741/perry. PMID: 10966875.
- Owens GK, Kumar MS, Wamhoff BR. Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. Physiol Rev. 2004 Jul;84(3):767-801. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2003. PMID: 15269336.
- Kawai-Kowase K, Owens GK. Multiple repressor pathways contribute to phenotypic switching of vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2007 Jan;292(1):C59-69. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00394.2006. PMID: 16956962.
- Tierney JW, Evans BC, Cheung-Flynn J, Wang B, Colazo JM, Polcz ME, Cook RS, Brophy CM, Duvall CL. Therapeutic MK2 inhibition blocks pathological vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype switch. JCI Insight. 2021 Oct;6(19):e142339. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.142339. PMID: 34622803.
- Camoretti-Mercado B, Lockey RF. Airway smooth muscle pathophysiology in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2021 Jun;147(6):1983-1995. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2021.03.035. PMID: 34092351.
- Gomez D, Owens GK. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res. 2012 Jul;95(2):156-64. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs115. PMID: 22406749.
- Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, Ahmed M, Aksut B, Alam T, Alam K, et al. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017 Jul;70(1):1-25. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.052. PMID: 28527533.
- Pagidipati NJ, Gaziano TA. Estimating deaths from cardiovascular disease: A review of global methodologies of mortality measurement. Circulation. 2013 Feb;127(6):749–56. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.128413. PMID: 23401116.
- 32. Song P, Fang Z, Wang H, Cai Y, Rahimi K, Zhu Y, Fowkes FGR, Fowkes FJI, Rudan I. Global and regional prevalence, burden, and risk factors for carotid atherosclerosis: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and modelling study. Lancet Glob Health. 2020 May;8(5):e721-e729. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30117-0. PMID: 32353319.
- Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med. 2005 Apr;352(16):1685-95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra043430. PMID: 15843671.
- Kloc M, Kubiak JZ, Ghobrial RM. Macrophage-, Dendritic-, Smooth Muscle-, Endothelium-, and Stem Cells-Derived Foam Cells in Atherosclerosis. Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Nov 16;23(22):14154. doi: 10.3390/ijms232214154. PMID: 36430636
- Jensen LF, Bentzon JF, Albarrán-juárez J. The Phenotypic Responses of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Exposed to Mechanical Cues. Cells. 2021 Aug 26;10(9):2209. doi: 10.3390/cells10092209. PMID: 34571858.

- Worth NF, Rolfe BE, Song J, Campbell GR. Vascular smooth muscle cell phenotypic modulation in culture is associated with reorganisation of contractile and cytoskeletal proteins. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 2001 Jul;49(3):130-45. doi: 10.1002/cm.1027. PMID: 11668582.
- Song J, Rolfe BE, Campbell JH, Campbell GR. Changes in threedimensional architecture of microfilaments in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells during phenotypic modulation. Tissue Cell. 1998 Jun;30(3):324-33. doi: 10.1016/s0040-8166(98)80045-1. PMID: 10091337.
- Owens GK, Kumar MS, Wamhoff BR. Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. Physiol Rev. 2004 Jul;84(3):767-801. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2003. PMID: 15269336.
- Gau D, Roy P. SRF'ing and SAP'ing the role of MRTF proteins in cell migration. J Cell Sci. 2018 Oct;131(19):jcs218222. doi: 10.1242/jcs.218222. PMID: 30309957; PMCID.
- 40. Deshpande A, Shetty PMV, Frey N, Rangrez AY. SRF: a seriously responsible factor in cardiac development and disease. J Biomed Sci. 2022 Jun;29(1):38. doi: 10.1186/s12929-022-00820-3. PMID: 35681202.
- McDonald OG, Owens GK. Programming smooth muscle plasticity with chromatin dynamics. Circ Res. 2007 May;100(10):1428-41. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000266448.30370.a0. PMID: 17525382.
- Miano JM. Serum response factor: toggling between disparate programs of gene expression. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2003 Jun;35(6):577-93. doi: 10.1016/s0022-2828(03)00110-x. PMID: 12788374.
- Liu L, Rippe C, Hansson O, Kryvokhyzha D, Fisher S, Ekman M, Swärd K. Regulation of the Muscarinic M3 Receptor by Myocardin-Related Transcription Factors. Front Physiol. 2021 Sep;12:710968. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.710968. Erratum in: Front Physiol. 2021 Oct;12:782588. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.782588. PMID: 34539433.
- Miralles F, Posern G, Zaromytidou AI, Treisman R. Actin Dynamics Control SRF Activity by Regulation of Its Coactivator MAL. Cell. 2003 May;113(3):329-42. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00278-2. PMID: 12732141.
- 45. Staus DP, Blaker AL, Taylor JM, Mack CP. Diaphanous 1 and 2 regulate smooth muscle cell differentiation by activating the myocardin-related transcription factors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007 Mar;27(3):478– 86. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000255559.77687.c1. PMID: 17170370.
- Olson EN, Nordheim A. Linking actin dynamics and gene transcription to drive cellular motile functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010 May;11(5):353-65. doi: 10.1038/nrm2890. PMID: 20414257.

- 47. Hadden WJ, Young JL, Holle AW, McFetridge ML, Kim DY, Wijesinghe P, Taylor-Weiner H, Wen JH, Lee AR, Bieback K, et al. Stem cell migration and mechanotransduction on linear stiffness gradient hydrogels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017 May;114(22):5647–52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1618239114. PMID: 28507138.
- 48. Cui Y, Hameed FM, Yang B, Lee K, Pan CQ, Park S Sheetz M. Cyclic stretching of soft substrates induces spreading and growth. Nat Commun. 2015 Feb;6:6333. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7333. PMID: 25704457.
- Spector I, Braet F, Shochet NR, Bubb MR. New anti-actin drugs in the study of the organization and function of the actin cytoskeleton. Microsc Res Tech. 1999 Oct;47(1):18–37. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0029(19991001)47:1<18::AID-JEMT3>3.0.CO;2-E. PMID: 10506759.
- Spector I, Shochet NR, Kashman Y, Groweiss A. Latrunculins: novel marine toxins that disrupt microfilament organization in cultured cells. Science. 1983 Feb;219(4584):493-5. doi: 10.1126/science.6681676. PMID: 6681676.
- Vartiainen MK, Guettler S, Larijani B, Treisman R. Nuclear actin regulates dynamic subcellular localization and activity of the SRF cofactor MAL. Science. 2007 Jun;316(5832):1749-52. doi: 10.1126/science.1141084. PMID: 17588931.
- 52. Sotiropoulos A, Gineitis D, Copeland J, Treisman R. Signal-regulated activation of serum response factor is mediated by changes in actin dynamics. Cell. 1999 Jul 23;98(2):159-69. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81011-9. PMID: 10428028.
- 53. Huang J, Wang T, Wright AC, Yang J, Zhou S, Li L, Yang J, Small A, Parmacek MS. Myocardin is required for maintenance of vascular and visceral smooth muscle homeostasis during postnatal development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015 Apr;112(14):4447-52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1420363112. PMID: 25805819.
- 54. Minami T, Kuwahara K, Nakagawa Y, Takaoka M, Kinoshita H, Nakao K, Kuwabara Y, Yamada Y, Yamada C, Shibata J, Usami S, et al. Reciprocal expression of MRTF-A and myocardin is crucial for pathological vascular remodelling in mice. EMBO J. 2012 Nov;31(23):4428-40. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.296. PMID: 23103763.
- 55. Ackers-Johnson M, Talasila A, Sage AP, Long X, Bot I, Morrell NW, et al. Myocardin regulates vascular smooth muscle cell inflammatory activation and disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015 Apr;35(4):817–28. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.305218. PMID: 25614278.
- Wang D, Prakash J, Nguyen P, Davis-Dusenbery BN, Hill NS, Layne MD, Hata A, Lagna G. Bone. Bone morphogenetic protein signaling in vascular disease: Anti-inflammatory action through myocardin-related transcription factor A. J Biol Chem. 2012 Aug;287(33):28067-77. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.379487. PMID: 22718766.

- 57. Yang Y, Cheng X, Tian W, Zhou B, Wu X, Xu H, Fang F, Fang M, Xu Y. MRTF-A steers an epigenetic complex to activate endothelin-induced proinflammatory transcription in vascular smooth muscle cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014 Sep;42(16):10460–72. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku776. Epub 2014 Aug 26. PMID: 25159611.
- 58. Yu L, Weng X, Liang P, Dai X, Wu X, Xu H, Fang M, Fang F, Xu Y. MRTF-A mediates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory transcription by interacting with the COMPASS complex. J Cell Sci. 2014 Nov;127(Pt21):4645–57. doi: 10.1242/jcs.152314. PMID: 25189621.
- 59. Gao P, Gao P, Zhao J, Shan S, Luo W, Slivano OJ, Zhang W, Tabuchi A, LeMaire SA, Maegdefessel L, et al. MKL1 cooperates with p38MAPK to promote vascular senescence, inflammation, and abdominal aortic aneurysm. Redox Biol. 2021 May;41:101903. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.101903. PMID: 33667992.
- Zindel J, Kubes P. DAMPs, PAMPs, and LAMPs in Immunity and Sterile Inflammation. Annu Rev Pathol. 2020 Jan;15:493-518. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012419-032847. PMID: 31675482.
- Tang D, Kang R, Coyne CB, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT. PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. Immunol Rev. 2012 Sep;249(1):158-75. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01146.x. PMID: 22889221.
- 62. Gong T, Liu L, Jiang W, Zhou R. DAMP-sensing receptors in sterile inflammation and inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020 Feb;20(2):95-112. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0215-7. PMID: 31558839.
- 63. Zasloff M. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. Nature. 2002 Jan;415(6870):389-95. doi: 10.1038/415389a. PMID: 11807545.
- 64. Mansour SC, Pena OM, Hancock REW. Host defense peptides: front-line immunomodulators. Trends Immunol. 2014 Sep;35(9):443-50. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2014.07.004. PMID: 25113635.
- Fruitwala S, El-Naccache DW, Chang TL. Multifaceted immune functions of human defensins and underlying mechanisms. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2019 Apr;88:163-172. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2018.02.023. PMID: 29501617.
- Dürr UHN, Sudheendra US, Ramamoorthy A. LL-37, the only human member of the cathelicidin family of antimicrobial peptides. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006 Sep;1758(9):1408-25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2006.03.030. PMID: 16716248.
- Larrick JW, Hirata M, Balint RF, Lee J, Zhong J, Wright SC. Human CAP18: a novel antimicrobial lipopolysaccharide-binding protein. Infect Immun. 1995 Apr;63(4):1291-7. doi: 10.1128/iai.63.4.1291-1297.1995. PMID: 7890387.
- Agerberth B, Gunne H, Odeberg J, Kogner P, Boman HG, Gudmundsson GH. FALL-39, a putative human peptide antibiotic, is cysteine-free and expressed in bone marrow and testis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Jan;92(1):195-9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.1.195. PMID: 7529412.

- Cowland JB, Johnsen AH, Borregaard N. hCAP-18, a cathelin/probactenecin-like protein of human neutrophil specific granules. FEBS Lett. 1995 Jul;368(1):173–6. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(95)00634-1. PMID: 7615076.
- Larrick JW, Lee J, Ma S, Li X, Francke U, Wright SC, Balint RF. Structural, functional analysis and localization of the human CAP18 gene. FEBS Lett. 1996 Nov;398(1):74–80. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(96)01199-4. PMID: 8946956.
- 71. Rivas-Santiago B, Hernandez-Pando R, Carranza C, Juarez E, Contreras JL, Aguilar-Leon D, Torres M, Sada E. Expression of cathelicidin LL-37 during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in human alveolar macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, and epithelial cells. Infect Immun. 2008 Mar;76(3):935-41. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01218-07. PMID: 18160480.
- Hase K, Eckmann L, Leopard JD, Varki N, Kagnoff MF. Cell differentiation is a key determinant of cathelicidin LL-37/human cationic antimicrobial protein 18 expression by human colon epithelium. Infect Immun. 2002 Feb;70(2):953–63. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.2.953-963.2002. PMID: 11796631.
- 73. Frohm M, Agerberth B, Ahangari G, Stâhle-Bäckdahl M, Lidén S, Wigzell H, Gudmundsson GH. The expression of the gene coding for the antibacterial peptide LL-37 is induced in human keratinocytes during inflammatory disorders. J Biol Chem. 1997 Jun;272(24):15258-63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.24.15258. PMID: 9182550.
- 74. Agerberth B, Charo J, Werr J, Olsson B, Idali F, Lindbom L, Kiessling R, Jörnvall H, Wigzell H, Gudmundsson GH. The human antimicrobial and chemotactic peptides LL-37 and alpha-defensins are expressed by specific lymphocyte and monocyte populations. Blood. 2000 Nov;96(9):3086-93. PMID: 11049988.
- 75. Di Nardo A, Vitiello A, Gallo RL. Cutting edge: mast cell antimicrobial activity is mediated by expression of cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide. J Immunol. 2003 Mar;170(5):2274-8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.5.2274. PMID: 12594247.
- 76. Sørensen OE, Follin P, Johnsen AH, Calafat J, Tjabringa GS, Hiemstra PS, Borregaard N. Human cathelicidin, hCAP-18, is processed to the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by extracellular cleavage with proteinase 3. Blood. 2001 Jun;97(12):3951-9. doi: 10.1182/blood.v97.12.3951. PMID: 11389039.
- 77. Yamasaki K, Schauber J, Coda A, Lin H, Dorschner RA, Schechter NM, Bonnart C, Descargues P, Hovnanian A, Gallo RL. Kallikrein-mediated proteolysis regulates the antimicrobial effects of cathelicidins in skin. FASEB J. 2006 Oct;20(12):2068-80. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6075com. PMID: 17012259.
- Tokajuk J, Deptuła P, Piktel E, Daniluk T, Chmielewska S, Wollny T, Wolak P, Fiedoruk K, Bucki R. Cathelicidin LL-37 in Health and Diseases of the Oral Cavity. Biomedicines. 2022 May;10(5):1086. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10051086. PMID: 35625823.

- Leite ML, Duque HM, Rodrigues GR, da Cunha NB, Franco OL. The LL-37 domain: A clue to cathelicidin immunomodulatory response? Peptides. 2023 Jul;165:171011. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2023.171011. PMID: 37068711.
- Bhattacharjya S, Zhang Z, Ramamoorthy A. LL-37: Structures, Antimicrobial Activity, and Influence on Amyloid-Related Diseases. Biomolecules. 2024 Mar;14(3):320. doi: 10.3390/biom14030320. PMID: 38540740.
- Johansson J, Gudmundsson GH, Rottenberg ME, Berndt KD, Agerberth B. Conformation-dependent antibacterial activity of the naturally occurring human peptide LL-37. J Biol Chem. 1998 Feb;273(6):3718-24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.6.3718. PMID: 9452503.
- Henzler Wildman KA, Lee DK, Ramamoorthy A. Mechanism of lipid bilayer disruption by the human antimicrobial peptide, LL-37. Biochemistry. 2003 Jun;42(21):6545–58. doi: 10.1021/bi0273563. PMID: 12767238.
- Dean SN, Bishop BM, van Hoek ML. Natural and synthetic cathelicidin peptides with anti-microbial and anti-biofilm activity against Staphylococcus aureus. BMC Microbiol. 2011 May;11:114. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-11-114. PMID: 21605457.
- Overhage J, Campisano A, Bains M, Torfs ECW, Rehm BHA, Hancock REW. Human host defense peptide LL-37 prevents bacterial biofilm formation. Infect Immun. 2008 Sep;76(9):4176–82. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00318-08. PMID: 18591225.
- Barlow PG, Svoboda P, Mackellar A, Nash AA, York IA, Pohl J, Davidson DJ, Donis RO. Antiviral activity and increased host defense against influenza infection elicited by the human cathelicidin LL-37. PLoS One. 2011 Oct;6(10):e25333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025333. PMID: 22031815.
- Wong JH, Ng TB, Legowska A, Rolka K, Hui M, Cho CH. Antifungal action of human cathelicidin fragment (LL13-37) on Candida albicans. Peptides. 2011 Oct;32(10):1996–2002. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2011.08.018. PMID: 21889964.
- Torrent M, Pulido D, Rivas L, Andreu D. Antimicrobial Peptide Action on Parasites. Curr Drug Targets. 2012 Jul;13(9):1138–47. doi: 10.2174/138945012802002393. PMID: 22664071.
- Turner J, Cho Y, Dinh NN, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI. Activities of LL-37, a cathelin-associated antimicrobial peptide of human neutrophils. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1998 Sep;42(9):2206-14. doi: 10.1128/AAC.42.9.2206. PMID: 9736536.
- Tanaka D, Miyasaki KT, Lehrer RI. Sensitivity of Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans and Capnocytophaga spp. to the bactericidal action of LL-37: A cathelicidin found in human leukocytes and epithelium. Oral Microbiol Immunol. 2000 Aug;15(4):226–31. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-302x.2000.150403.x. PMID: 11154407.

- Shahmiri M, Enciso M, Adda CG, Smith BJ, Perugini MA, Mechler A. Membrane Core-Specific Antimicrobial Action of Cathelicidin LL-37 Peptide Switches Between Pore and Nanofibre Formation. Sci Rep. 2016 Nov;6:38184. doi: 10.1038/srep38184. PMID: 27901075.
- Nijnik A, Hancock R. Host defence peptides: antimicrobial and immunomodulatory activity and potential applications for tackling antibioticresistant infections. Emerg Health Threats J. 2009;2:e1. doi: 10.3134/ehtj.09.001. PMID: 22460279.
- Li N, Yamasaki K, Saito R, Fukushi-Takahashi S, Shimada-Omori R, Asano M, Aiba S. Alarmin function of cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide LL37 through IL-36γ induction in human epidermal keratinocytes. J Immunol. 2014 Nov;193(10):5140-8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302574. PMID: 25305315.
- 93. De Yang, Chen Q, Schmidt AP, Anderson GM, Wang JM, Wooters J, Oppenheim JJ, Chertov O. LL-37, the neutrophil granule- and epithelial cellderived cathelicidin, utilizes formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) as a receptor to chemoattract human peripheral blood neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells. J Exp Med. 2000 Oct;192(7):1069-74. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.7.1069. PMID: 11015447.
- 94. Tjabringa GS, Ninaber DK, Drijfhout JW, Rabe KF, Hiemstra PS. Human cathelicidin LL-37 is a chemoattractant for eosinophils and neutrophils that acts via formyl-peptide receptors. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2006;140(2):103-12. doi: 10.1159/000092305. PMID: 16557028.
- 95. Yang B, Good D, Mosaiab T, Liu W, Ni G, Kaur J, Liu X, Jessop C, Yang L, Fadhil R, et al. Significance of LL-37 on Immunomodulation and Disease Outcome. Biomed Res Int. 2020 May;2020:8349712. doi: 10.1155/2020/8349712. PMID: 32509872.
- Kahlenberg JM, Kaplan MJ. Little peptide, big effects: the role of LL-37 in inflammation and autoimmune disease. J Immunol. 2013 Nov;191(10):4895-901. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302005. PMID: 24185823.
- Niyonsaba F, Kiatsurayanon C, Chieosilapatham P, Ogawa H. Friends or Foes? Host defense (antimicrobial) peptides and proteins in human skin diseases. Exp Dermatol. 2017 Nov;26(11):989-998. doi: 10.1111/exd.13314. PMID: 28191680.
- Niyonsaba F, Ushio H, Nagaoka I, Okumura K, Ogawa H. The human betadefensins (-1, -2, -3, -4) and cathelicidin LL-37 induce IL-18 secretion through p38 and ERK MAPK activation in primary human keratinocytes. J Immunol. 2005 Aug;175(3):1776-84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1776. PMID: 16034119.
- 99. Steinstraesser L, Lam MC, Jacobsen F, Porporato PE, Chereddy KK, Becerikli M, Stricker I, Hancock RE, Lehnhardt M, Sonveaux P, et al. Skin electroporation of a plasmid encoding hCAP-18/LL-37 host defense peptide promotes wound healing. Mol Ther. 2014 Apr;22(4):734-42. doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.258. PMID: 24394186.

- 100. Henzler-Wildman KA, Martinez G V., Brown MF, Ramamoorthy A. Perturbation of the hydrophobic core of lipid bilayers by the human antimicrobial peptide LL-37. Biochemistry. 2004 Jul;43(26):8459–69. doi: 10.1021/bi036284s. PMID: 15222757.
- 101. Bankell E, Dahl S, Gidlöf O, Svensson D, Nilsson BO. LL-37-induced caspase-independent apoptosis is associated with plasma membrane permeabilization in human osteoblast-like cells. Peptides. 2021 Jan;135:170432. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2020.170432. PMID: 33129893.
- 102. Säll J, Carlsson M, Gidlöf O, Holm A, Humlén J, Ohman J, Svensson D, Nilsson BO, Jönsson D. The antimicrobial peptide LL-37 alters human osteoblast Ca2+ handling and induces Ca2+-independent apoptosis. J Innate Immun. 2013 Feb;5(3):290-300. doi: 10.1159/000346587. PMID: 23406612.
- Morizane S, Gallo RL. Antimicrobial peptides in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. J Dermatol. 2012 Mar;39(3):225-30. doi: 10.1111/j.1346-8138.2011.01483.x. PMID: 22352846.
- 104. Morizane S, Yamasaki K, Mühleisen B, Kotol PF, Murakami M, Aoyama Y, Iwatsuki K, Hata T, Gallo RL. Cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide LL-37 in psoriasis enables keratinocyte reactivity against TLR9 ligands. J Invest Dermatol. 2012 Jan;132(1):135-43. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.259. PMID: 21850017.
- 105. Dombrowski Y, Peric M, Koglin S, Kammerbauer C, Göß C, Anz D, Simanski M, Gläser R, Harder J, Hornung V, et al. Cytosolic DNA triggers inflammasome activation in keratinocytes in psoriatic lesions. Sci Transl Med. 2011 May;3(82):82ra38. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002001. PMID: 21562230.
- 106. Lande R, Gregorio J, Facchinetti V, Chatterjee B, Wang YH, Homey B, Cao W, Wang YH, Su B, Nestle FO, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells sense self-DNA coupled with antimicrobial peptide. Nature. 2007 Oct;449(7162):564–9. doi: 10.1038/nature06116. PMID: 17873860.
- 107. Yamasaki K, Kanada K, Macleod DT, Borkowski AW, Morizane S, Nakatsuji T, Cogen AL, Gallo RL. TLR2 expression is increased in rosacea and stimulates enhanced serine protease production by keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol. 2011 Mar;131(3):688-97. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.351. PMID: 21107351.
- 108. Yamasaki K, Di Nardo A, Bardan A, Murakami M, Ohtake T, Coda A, Dorschner RA, Bonnart C, Descargues P, Hovnanian A, et al. Increased serine protease activity and cathelicidin promotes skin inflammation in rosacea. Nat Med. 2007 Aug;13(8):975–80. doi: 10.1038/nm1616. PMID: 17676051.
- 109. Paulsen F, Pufe T, Conradi L, Varoga D, Tsokos M, Papendieck J, et al. Antimicrobial peptides are expressed and produced in healthy and inflamed human synovial membranes. J Pathol. 2002 Nov;198(3):369-77. doi: 10.1002/path.1224. PMID: 12375270.

- 110. Matsumoto T, Kaneko T, Seto M, Wada H, Kobayashi T, Nakatani K, Tonomura H, Tono Y, Ohyabu M, Nobori T, et al. The membrane proteinase 3 expression on neutrophils was downregulated after treatment with infliximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2008 Apr;14(2):186-92. doi: 10.1177/1076029607303961. PMID: 18372277.
- 111. Deal C. Bone loss in rheumatoid arthritis: Systemic, periarticular, and focal. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2012 Jun;14(3):231–7. doi: 10.1007/s11926-012-0253-7. PMID: 22527950.
- 112. Hoffmann MH, Bruns H, Bäckdahl L, Neregård P, Niederreiter B, Herrmann M, Catrina AI, Agerberth B, Holmdahl R. The cathelicidins LL-37 and rCRAMP are associated with pathogenic events of arthritis in humans and rats. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013 Jul;72(7):1239-48. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202218. PMID: 23172753.
- Listgarten MA. Pathogenesis of periodontitis. J Clin Periodontol. 1986 May;13(5):418–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-051x.1986.tb01485.x. PMID: 3522650.
- 114. Türkoğlu O, Emingil G, Kütükçüler N, Atilla G. Gingival crevicular fluid levels of cathelicidin LL-37 and interleukin-18 in patients with chronic periodontitis. J Periodontol. 2009 Jun;80(6):969-76. doi: 10.1902/jop.2009.080532. PMID: 19485828.
- 115. Hosokawa I, Hosokawa Y, Komatsuzawa H, Goncalves RB, Karimbux N, Napimoga MH, Seki M, Ouhara K, Sugai M, Taubman MA, et al. Innate immune peptide LL-37 displays distinct expression pattern from betadefensins in inflamed gingival tissue. Clin Exp Immunol. 2006 Nov;146(2):218–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03200.x. PMID: 17034573.
- 116. Döring Y, Manthey HD, Drechsler M, Lievens D, Megens RT, Soehnlein O, Busch M, Manca M, Koenen RR, Pelisek J, et al. Auto-antigenic protein-DNA complexes stimulate plasmacytoid dendritic cells to promote atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2012 Apr;125(13):1673-83. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.046755. PMID: 22388324.
- 117. Edfeldt K, Agerberth B, Rottenberg ME, Gudmundsson GH, Wang XB, Mandal K, Xu Q, Yan ZQ. Involvement of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 in human atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006 Jul;26(7):1551-7. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000223901.08459.57. PMID: 16645154.
- 118. Ciornei CD, Tapper H, Bjartell A, Sternby NH, Bodelsson M. Human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 is present in atherosclerotic plaques and induces death of vascular smooth muscle cells: a laboratory study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2006 Dec;6:49. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-6-49. PMID: 17181861.
- 119. Döring Y, Drechsler M, Wantha S, Kemmerich K, Lievens D, Vijayan S, Gallo RL, Weber C, Soehnlein O. Lack of neutrophil-derived CRAMP reduces atherosclerosis in mice. Circ Res. 2012 Apr;110(8):1052-6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.265868. Epub 2012 Mar 6. PMID: 22394519.

- 120. Koczulla R, von Degenfeld G, Kupatt C, Krötz F, Zahler S, Gloe T, Issbrücker K, Unterberger P, Zaiou M, Lebherz C, et al. An angiogenic role for the human peptide antibiotic LL-37/hCAP-18. J Clin Invest. 2003 Jun;111(11):1665-72. doi: 10.1172/JCI17545. PMID: 12782669.
- 121. Soehnlein O, Wantha S, Simsekyilmaz S, Döring Y, Megens RT, Mause SF, Drechsler M, Smeets R, Weinandy S, Schreiber F, et al. Neutrophil-derived cathelicidin protects from neointimal hyperplasia. Sci Transl Med. 2011 Oct;3(103):103ra98. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002531. PMID: 21974936.
- 122. Zeidler C, Boxer L, Dale DC, Freedman MH, Kinsey S, Welte K. Management of Kostmann syndrome in the G-CSF era. Br J Haematol. 2000 Jun;109(3):490-5. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.02064.x. PMID: 10886193.
- 123. Pütsep K, Carlsson G, Boman HG, Andersson M. Deficiency of antibacterial peptides in patients with morbus Kostmann: an observation study. Lancet. 2002 Oct;360(9340):1144–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11201-3. PMID: 12387964.
- 124. Hart TC, Hart PS, Bowden DW, Michalec MD, Callison SA, Walker SJ, Zhang Y, Firatli E. Mutations of the cathepsin C gene are responsible for Papillon-Lefèvre syndrome. J Med Genet. 1999 Dec;36(12):881-7. PMID: 10593994.
- 125. Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature. 2008 Jul;454(7203):428-35. doi: 10.1038/nature07201. PMID: 18650913.
- 126. Feehan KT, Gilroy DW. Is Resolution the End of Inflammation? Trends Mol Med. 2019 Mar;25(3):198-214. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2019.01.006. PMID: 30795972.
- 127. Mitchell S, Vargas J, Hoffmann A. Signaling via the NFκB system. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 2016 May;8(3):227-41. doi: 10.1002/wsbm.1331. PMID: 26990581.
- 128. Karin M. How NF-kB is activated: the role of the IkB kinase (IKK) complex. Oncogene. 1999 Nov ;18(49):6867-74. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203219. PMID: 10602462.
- 129. Chen Q, Sun L, Chen ZJ. Regulation and function of the cGAS-STING pathway of cytosolic DNA sensing. Nat Immunol. 2016 Sep;17(10):1142-9. doi: 10.1038/ni.3558. PMID: 27648547.
- Decout A, Katz JD, Venkatraman S, Ablasser A. The cGAS–STING pathway as a therapeutic target in inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021 Sep;21(9):548-569. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00524-z. PMID: 33833439.
- 131. Balka KR, Louis C, Saunders TL, Smith AM, Calleja DJ, D'Silva DB, Moghaddas F, Tailler M, Lawlor KE, Zhan Y, et al. TBK1 and IKKε Act Redundantly to Mediate STING-Induced NF-κB Responses in Myeloid Cells. Cell Rep. 2020 Apr;31(1):107492. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.03.056. PMID: 32268090.

- Krysko D V., Vanden Berghe T, D'Herde K, Vandenabeele P. Apoptosis and necrosis: detection, discrimination and phagocytosis. Methods. 2008 Mar;44(3):205–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2007.12.001. PMID: 18314051.
- Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol. 2007 Jun;35(4):495-516. doi: 10.1080/01926230701320337. PMID: 17562483.
- 134. Tait SW, Green DR. Caspase-independent cell death: leaving the set without the final cut. Oncogene. 2008 Oct 27;27(50):6452-61. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.311. PMID: 18955972.
- 135. Liu G, Zou H, Luo T, Long M, Bian J, Liu X, Gu J, Yuan Y, Song R, Wang Y, et al. Caspase-dependent and caspase-independent pathways are involved in cadmium-induced apoptosis in primary rat proximal tubular cell culture. PLoS One. 2016 Nov;11(11):e0166823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166823. PMID: 27861627.
- 136. Rodriguez DA, Weinlich R, Brown S, Guy C, Fitzgerald P, Dillon CP, Oberst A, Quarato G, Low J, Cripps JG, et al. Characterization of RIPK3mediated phosphorylation of the activation loop of MLKL during necroptosis. Cell Death Differ. 2016 Jan;23(1):76-88. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.70. PMID: 26024392.
- 137. Gong YN, Guy C, Olauson H, Becker JU, Yang M, Fitzgerald P, Linkermann A, Green DR. ESCRT-III Acts Downstream of MLKL to Regulate Necroptotic Cell Death and Its Consequences. Cell. 2017 Apr;169(2):286-300.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.03.020. PMID: 28388412.
- Shlomovitz I, Speir M, Gerlic M. Flipping the dogma phosphatidylserine in non-apoptotic cell death. Cell Commun Signal. 2019 Oct;17(1):139. doi: 10.1186/s12964-019-0437-0. PMID: 31665027.
- Ketelut-Carneiro N, Fitzgerald KA. Apoptosis, Pyroptosis, and Necroptosis—Oh My! The Many Ways a Cell Can Die. J Mol Biol. 2022 Feb;434(4):167378. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2021.167378. PMID: 34838807.
- Man SM, Karki R, Kanneganti TD. Molecular mechanisms and functions of pyroptosis, inflammatory caspases and inflammasomes in infectious diseases. Immunol Rev. 2017 May;277(1):61-75. doi: 10.1111/imr.12534. PMID: 28462526.
- 141. Dimauro I, Pearson T, Caporossi D, Jackson MJ. A simple protocol for the subcellular fractionation of skeletal muscle cells and tissue. BMC Res Notes. 2012 Sep;5:513. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-513. PMID: 22994964.
- 142. Ackers-Johnson M, Talasila A, Sage AP, Long X, Bot I, Morrell NW, Bennett MR, Miano JM, Sinha S. Myocardin regulates vascular smooth muscle cell inflammatory activation and disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015 Apr;35(4):817-28. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.305218. PMID: 25614278.

- 143. Xia XD, Yu XH, Chen LY, Xie SL, Feng YG, Yang RZ, Zhao ZW, Li H, Wang G, Tang CK. Myocardin suppression increases lipid retention and atherosclerosis via downregulation of ABCA1 in vascular smooth muscle cells. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. 2021 Apr;1866(4):158824. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2020.158824. PMID: 33035679.
- 144. Tang RH, Zheng XL, Callis TE, Stansfield WE, He J, Baldwin AS, Wang DZ, Selzman CH. Myocardin inhibits cellular proliferation by inhibiting NF-kappaB(p65)-dependent cell cycle progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Mar;105(9):3362-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705842105. PMID: 18296632.
- 145. Ito S, Hashimoto Y, Majima R, Nakao E, Aoki H, Nishihara M, Ohno-Urabe S, Furusho A, Hirakata S, Nishida N, et al. MRTF-A promotes angiotensin II-induced inflammatory response and aortic dissection in mice. PLoS One. 2020 Mar;15(3):e0229888. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229888. PMID: 32208430.
- GTEx Consortium. The Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project. Nat Genet. 2013 Jun;45(6):580-5. doi: 10.1038/ng.2653. PMID: 23715323.
- 147. Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, MacFadyen JG, Chang WH, Ballantyne C, Fonseca F, Nicolau J, Koenig W, Anker SD, et al. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. N Engl J Med. 2017 Sep;377(12):1119-1131. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1707914. PMID: 28845751.
- 148. Liu Y, Jesus AA, Marrero B, Yang D, Ramsey SE, Sanchez GAM, Tenbrock K, Wittkowski H, Jones OY, Kuehn HS, et al. Activated STING in a vascular and pulmonary syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2014 Aug;371(6):507-518. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1312625. PMID: 25029335.
- 149. Barlow PG, Beaumont PE, Cosseau C, Mackellar A, Wilkinson TS, Hancock RE, Haslett C, Govan JR, Simpson AJ, Davidson DJ. The human cathelicidin LL-37 preferentially promotes apoptosis of infected airway epithelium. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2010 Dec;43(6):692-702. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2009-0250OC. PMID: 20097832.
- 150. Björstad A, Askarieh G, Brown KL, Christenson K, Forsman H, Onnheim K, Li HN, Teneberg S, Maier O, Hoekstra D, et al. The host defense peptide LL-37 selectively permeabilizes apoptotic leukocytes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009 Mar;53(3):1027–38. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01310-08. PMID: 19075071.